
 

Democratic Services democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Title: Licensing Committee (Licensing Act 2003 
Functions) 

Date: 21 November 2013 

Time: 3.30pm (or conclusion of Non 2003 
Committee) 

Venue Council Chamber, Hove Town Hall 

Members: Councillors: 
Powell (Chair), Deane (Deputy Chair), Simson 
(Opposition Spokesperson), Lepper (Opposition 
Spokesperson), Bennett, Duncan, Gilbey, Hyde, 
Jones, Kennedy, Marsh, Pidgeon, Robins, 
Rufus and C Theobald 

Contact: Penny Jennings 
Democratic Services Officer 
01273 291065 
penny.jennings@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 
The Town Hall has facilities for wheelchair users, 
including lifts and toilets 

 

T  

An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for 
anyone wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter 
and infra red hearing aids are available for use 
during the meeting.  If you require any further 
information or assistance, please contact the 
receptionist on arrival. 

  

 FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are 
instructed to do so, you must leave the building by 
the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to 
the nearest exit by council staff.  It is vital that you 
follow their instructions: 
 

• You should proceed calmly; do not run and do 
not use the lifts; 

• Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

• Once you are outside, please do not wait 
immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further 
instructions; and 

• Do not re-enter the building until told that it is 
safe to do so. 

 



 

 
 

Democratic Services: Meeting Layout                    

Public Seating 

Press 

Councillor 
Simson 

Councillor 
Pidgeon 

Councillor 
Hyde 

Councillor 
Bennett 

Councillor  
Jones 

Councillor  
Kennedy 

Councillor  
Duncan 

Councillor  
Deane 

Public 
Speaker 

Councillor 
Duncan 

Lawyer Democratic 
Services 
Officer 

Councillor 
Gilbey 

Councillor  
Rufus 

 

Head of 
Department 

 

Member  
Speaking 

Councillor 
C. Theobald 

 

Councillor 
Marsh 

Councillor  
Robins 

Councillor 
Lepper 



LICENSING COMMITTEE (LICENSING ACT 2003 FUNCTIONS) 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

Part One Page 
 

10. PROCEDURAL BUSINESS  

 (a) Declaration of Substitutes: Where Councillors are unable to attend a 
meeting, a substitute Member from the same Political Group may 
attend, speak and vote in their place for that meeting. 

 
(b) Declarations of Interest: 
 

(a) Disclosable pecuniary interests not registered on the register of 
interests; 

(b) Any other interests required to be registered under the local 
code; 

(c) Any other general interest as a result of which a decision on the 
matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting you or a 
partner more than a majority of other people or businesses in 
the ward/s affected by the decision. 

 
In each case, you need to declare  
(i) the item on the agenda the interest relates to; 
(ii) the nature of the interest; and 
(iii) whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest or some other 

interest. 
 

If unsure, Members should seek advice from the committee lawyer 
or administrator preferably before the meeting. 

 
(c) Exclusion of Press and Public: To consider whether, in view of the 

nature of the business to be transacted, or the nature of the 
proceedings, the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting when any of the following items are under consideration. 

 
NOTE:  Any item appearing in Part 2 of the Agenda states in its 
heading either that it is confidential or the category under which the 
information disclosed in the report is exempt from disclosure and 
therefore not available to the public. 

 
A list and description of the categories of exempt information is 
available for public inspection at Brighton and Hove Town Halls. 

 

 

11. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 1 - 6 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 27 June 2013 (copy attached)  
 

12. CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS  

 

13. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT  



LICENSING COMMITTEE (LICENSING ACT 2003 FUNCTIONS) 

 
 

  To consider the following matters raised by members of the public: 
 
(a) Petitions: to receive any petitions presented by members of the 

public to the full Council or at the meeting itself. 
 
(b) Written Questions: to receive any questions submitted by the due 

date of 12 noon on 14 November 2013. 
 
(c) Deputations: to receive any deputations submitted by the due 

date of 12 noon on 14 November 2013. 
 

 

 

 

14. MEMBER  INVOLVEMENT  

 To consider the following matters raised by Members: 
 
(a) Petitions: to receive any petitions submitted to the full Council or 

at the meeting itself; 
 
(b) Written Questions: to consider any written questions; 
 
(c) Letters: to consider any letters;  
 
(d) Notices of Motion: to consider any Notices of Motion. 
 

 

 

15. SENSIBLE ON STRENGTH 7 - 14 

 Report of the Head of Regulatory Services (copy attached)  

 Contact Officer: Tim Nichols Tel: 29-2163  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

16. GOVERNMENT PROPSALS ON PERSONAL LICENCES 15 - 22 

 Report of the Head of Regulatory Services (copy attached)  

 Contact Officer: Jean Cranford Tel: 29-2550  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

17. FURTHER ENTERTAINMENT DEREGULATION CONSULTATION 23 - 88 

 Report of the Head of Regulatory Services (copy attached)  

 Contact Officer: Jim Whitelegg Tel: 29-2143  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

18. SCHEDULE OF REVIEWS 89 - 90 

 Report of the Head of Regulatory Services (copy attached)  

 Contact Officer: Jean Cranford Tel: 29-2550  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

19. SCHEDULE OF APPEALS 91 - 92 



LICENSING COMMITTEE (LICENSING ACT 2003 FUNCTIONS) 

 
 

 Report of the Head of Law (copy attached)  

 Contact Officer: Rebecca Sidell Tel: 29-1511  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

20. ITEMS TO GO FORWARD TO COUNCIL  

 To consider items to be submitted to the 12 December 2013 Council 
meeting for information. 
 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 24.3a, the Committee may determine 
that any item is to be included in its report to Council. In addition, 
any Group may specify one further item to be included by notifying the 
Chief Executive no later than 10am on the eighth working day before the 
Council meeting at which the report is to be made, or if the Committee 
meeting take place after this deadline, immediately at the conclusion of 
the Committee meeting 

 

 

 

 

The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public.  Provision is also made 
on the agendas for public questions to committees and details of how questions can be 
raised can be found on the website and/or on agendas for the meetings. 
 
The closing date for receipt of public questions and deputations for the next meeting is 12 
noon on the fifth working day before the meeting. 
 
Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact Penny Jennings, 
(01273) 291065, email penny.jennings@brighton-hove.gov.uk) or email 
democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk  
 

 

Date of Publication - Wednesday, 13 November 2013 

 

 

 





 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
(LICENSING ACT 2003 
FUNCTIONS) 

Agenda Item 11 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council  

 
 

BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE (LICENSING ACT 2003 FUNCTIONS) 
 

4.00PM 27 JUNE 2013 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, HOVE TOWN HALL 
 

MINUTES 
 

Present: Councillors Powell (Chair), Deane (Deputy Chair), Lepper (Opposition 
Spokesperson), Bennett, Gilbey, Hyde, Jones, Marsh, Phillips, Robins, Rufus, Sykes and 
C Theobald 
 
Apologies: Councillors Simson and Pidgeon 
 

 
 

PART ONE 
 
 

1. PROCEDURAL BUSINESS 
 
1a Declaration of Substitutes 
 
1.1 Councillor Sykes stated that he was substituting for Councillor Duncan. Councillor 

Phillips she was substituting for Councillor Kennedy. 
 
1b Declarations of Interest 
 
1.2 There were none. 
. 
1c Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
1.3 In accordance with section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 (‘the Act’), the 

Committee considered whether the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting during an item of business on the grounds that it was likely, in view of the 
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if 
members of the press or public were present during that item, there would be disclosure 
to them of confidential information (as defined in section 100A(3) of the Act) or exempt 
information (as defined in section 100I of the Act). 

 
1.4 RESOLVED - That the press and public be not excluded from the meeting during 

consideration of any item on the agenda. 

1



 

 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE (LICENSING ACT 2003 FUNCTIONS) 27 JUNE 2013 

 
2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
2.1 RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Licensing Committee (Licensing Act 2003 

Functions) Meeting held on 14 March 2013 be agreed and signed  by the Chair as a 
correct record. 

 
3. CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS 
 
3.1 There were none. 
 
4. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 
 
4a Petitions 
 
4.1 There were none. 
 
4b Written Questions 
 
4.2 There were none. 
 
4c Deputations 
 
4.3 There were none. 
 
5. MEMBER INVOLVEMENT 
 
5a Petitions 
 
5.1 There were none. 
 
5b Written Questions 
 
5.2 There were none. 
 
5c Letters 
 
5.3 There were none. 
 
5d Notices of Motion 
 
5.4 There were none. 
 
6. REPORT OF THE ALCOHOL PROGRAMME BOARD (JUNE 2013) 
 
6.1 The Committee considered a report of the Head of Planning and Public Protection 

detailing the work of the Alcohol Programme Board for the benefit of Members in the 
context of licensing policy and application decisions. 

 

2



 

 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE (LICENSING ACT 2003 FUNCTIONS) 27 JUNE 2013 

6.2 The Head of Regulatory Services, Environmental Health and Licensing, Mr Nichols 
explained that the Alcohol Programme Board which involved very senior input from 
across the city (Health, City Council and Police) had been set up following the Intelligent 
Alcohol Commissioning Pilot in 2010. The aim of the Board was to lead a programme of 
work in tackling the adverse consequences of alcohol consumption in Brighton and 
Hove. The four areas of work set out within the Board’s action were, the drinking culture, 
the availability of alcohol, the night time economy and early identification, treatment and 
aftercare. Although “health” was not a licensing objective, it was an emerging theme and 
could inform licensing policy, for example in relation to the policies in operation in the 
Cumulative Impact Zone (CIZ) and the Special Stress Area (SSA). Initiatives in respect 
of SDG2 (availability of alcohol) was lead by the licensing team and the key objective of 
this domain was to “reduce the consumption of alcohol across the city focusing in 
particular on young people and heavy drinkers.”  

 
6.3 The Head of Regulatory Services stated in apparent response to the CIZ there had been 

an increase in  the number of applications for Temporary Event Notices (TEN’s), for 
community and other events as well as in place of publicans exemptions, all of which 
involved the consumption of alcohol. One of the key factors was to encourage more 
alcohol free events, to encourage responsible drinking and to continue to foster adoption 
of best practice by retailers. 

 
6.4 Councillor Rufus referred to the Health Scrutiny Panel which had been set up and was 

examining issues around alcohol across the city. One facet of the problem arose from 
Brighton’s image as a fun “party” city, although problems around alcohol misuse/abuse 
in the city were more complex and deep rooted than that. By examining the issue in 
depth it would be interesting to see what lessons could be learned. It was recognised 
that there was no quick fix, but it was important to continue the debate and to move 
towards longer term solutions.  

 
6.5 Councillor Marsh explained that Councillors Deane, Rufus and Simson were also 

members Panel and that a scoping exercise was currently underway to ensure that the 
work being undertaken built upon but did not duplicate work that had already been 
undertaken. Initiatives which had been undertaken in cities elsewhere in the country 
e.g., Liverpool were being looked at to see whether there were elements of them that 
could be adopted in Brighton. 

 
6.6 Councillor Jones commended the approach being taken although it would it would take 

time and a variety of approaches to effect improvements. The role of education 
particularly amongst young drinkers was key. As a health professional he had 
experience of dealing with those who were oblivious to the detrimental impact of the 
amount of alcohol they were consuming on a regular basis. Hopefully in time 
consumption of excess alcohol could be seen as being as “uncool” as smoking. It was 
important not to be deterred from making initiatives because of the size of the task. 

 
6.7 Councillor C Theobald concurred with the points that had been made, welcoming any 

initiatives to encourage alcohol free events. She referred to “White Nights” which had 
been held successfully on two occasions, however on the third, when it had coincided 
with Halloween, some individuals had consumed large quantities of alcohol which had 
compromised the comfort and safety of others as well as themselves. 

 

3



 

 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE (LICENSING ACT 2003 FUNCTIONS) 27 JUNE 2013 

6.8 Councillor Robins agreed with much that had been said but considered that 
comparisons with smoking were not necessarily appropriate as responsible alcohol 
consumption was not damaging to health whilst all smoking could be damaging to 
health. 

 
6.9 Councillor Lepper stated that it was not just drinking by the young that presented a 

problem, those who went out “clubbing” on regular basis had sufficient disposable 
income to pay high prices for their alcohol. However, easy availability, cost and leisure 
time meant that excess alcohol consumption was also an issue amongst some of those 
of more mature years too, some of whom drank steadily through the day in the privacy 
of their own homes. 

 
6.10 Councillor Hyde concurred with all that had been said, stating that clearly a variety of 

approaches was needed along with a programme of education/re-education. 
 
6.11 Councillor Deane stated that one of the problems arose in consequence of alcohol with 

celebration and happiness. The antithesis of that was that too much alcohol gave rise to 
a great deal of unhappiness on many levels. 

 
6.8 RESOLVED – That the contents of the report be noted. 
 
7. SCHEDULE OF REVIEWS 
 
7.1 The Committee considered a schedule prepared by the Head of Planning and Public 

Protection detailing the number of reviews which had taken place during the period 
covered by the report. 

 
7.2 RESOLVED – That the content of the Schedule be received and noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8. SCHEDULE OF APPEALS RECEIVED 
 
8.1 The Committee considered a schedule prepared by the Head of Law setting out the 

number of appeals lodged during the period covered by the report. 
 
8.2 RESOLVED – That the content of the schedule be received and noted. 
 
9. ITEMS TO GO FORWARD TO COUNCIL 
 
9.1 There were none. 
 

 
The meeting concluded at 5.35pm 

 

4



 

 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE (LICENSING ACT 2003 FUNCTIONS) 27 JUNE 2013 

Signed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Dated this day of  
 

5



6



LICENSING COMMITTEE 
(LICENSING ACT 2003 
FUNCTIONS) 

Agenda Item 15 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

 Subject: ‘Sensible on Strength’ 

Date of Meeting: 21 November 2013 

Report of: Head of Regulatory Services 

Contact Officer: Name: Tim Nichols Tel: 29-2163 

 Email: tim.nichols@brighton-hove.gcsx.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE    
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
1.1 This report sets out to inform the Licensing Committee about the Sensible on   
 Strength Campaign. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That the Licensing Committee notes the contents of this report. 
 
2.2 That the Sensible on Strength campaign is formally launched. 
 
3. CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1  Officers from the council’s Licensing and Trading Standards team are working 

together with officers from Sussex Police Licensing to develop a customer driven 
compliance campaign and accredited trader scheme, to be known s Sensible on 
Strength. The purpose of the campaign is to find ways of limiting the availability 
of super-strength drinks in the Brighton & Hove and to encourage retailers who 
sell alcohol ‘off the premises’ to operate good practice measures that will 
promote the four licensing objectives.  The four licensing objectives are 
paramount under the Licensing Act 2003 and are; the prevention of crime & 
disorder, prevention of public nuisance, public safety and protection of children 
from harm.  Through achieving this change, the ultimate aim is to reduce alcohol 
related harm and anti-social behaviour, and to move vulnerable drinkers onto 
weaker alcohol as experience shows that if this can be achieved, the level of 
deterioration in health is dramatically slowed and there is more likelihood that 
they will take the step to abstinence and long-term sobriety. 

 
3.2 Community  
 

The aim is to engage with the community and work to reduce anti-social 
behaviour as well as improving people’s health and working with businesses to 
promote and support responsible retailing.   Officers want to encourage licensed 
businesses to voluntarily stop selling super-strength beer, lager and cider above 
6% and implement other good practice measures including a refusals system, 
CCTV and documented training.   Additionally a full inspection will be carried out 

7



on the premises to check compliance with their licensing conditions and any 
additional measures.  Officers will then present a certificate and window sticker to 
the business if they pass the inspection (see draft window sticker at appendix 1). 

 
3.3  Alcohol and Health 
 

According to data from the Office of National Statistics, the number of alcohol 
related deaths increased by nearly a fifth between 1999 and 2004. Deaths in 
England and Wales rose from 5,525 in 2000 to 6,544 in 2004.  Alcohol Concern 
believes that these figures are an underestimate of the true figure. They argue 
that other research and statistics covering illnesses and health problems related 
to excessive alcohol consumption including some types of cancers, strokes, 
heart disease and dementia as well as accidents, suicides and assaults, provides 
a more accurate figure of over 30,000 deaths a year.  
 
The Government's Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy states that there are up to 
22,000 premature deaths per annum and over 30,000 hospital admissions linked 
to alcohol dependence. It is estimated that 70% of admissions to Accident and 
Emergency departments at the weekend are linked to alcohol-related incidents.  

 
Brighton and Hove scores poorly on virtually all alcohol impact indices and as 
such the Alcohol Programme Board has been implemented to address the 
adverse consequences of alcohol consumption in Brighton and Hove – members 
of the Board consist of Health departments, City Council, Police and other 
organisations. There are four ‘domains’ of work within the Programme Board, 
one of which is the Availability of alcohol and as such this project falls within that 
area but aims to have an overall positive effect on all domains. 

 
As an example, a single 500ml can of 9% super-strength lager contains four and 
a half units of alcohol, which exceeds the Government’s daily recommended safe 
alcohol limit of between two to three units for women and three to four units for 
men.  This clearly breaches the drinks industry’s corporate social responsibility 
guidelines. 
 

3.4  Anti-Social Drinking 
 

Drinking in the streets can intimidate members of the public, cause disorder and 
nuisance, and generally degrade a public space.   

 
The Prime Minister’s Strategy Unit launched the Alcohol Harm Reduction 
Strategy for England in 2004.  It stated alcohol misuse is linked to disorder and 
contributes to driving people’s fear of crime; 61% of the population think that 
alcohol-related violence on the streets is increasing, whilst 43% of women and 
38% of men see drinking on the street as a problem.  Many people are therefore 
less, rather than more, likely to want to spend more time in city centres perceived 
as violent and dominated by alcohol. 

 
3.5  Campaign Message 
 

The campaign has a really very simple message to educate and encourage 
businesses to operate a responsible retailing scheme. The simple message is 
that the super-strength drinks are a breed apart from other lagers and ciders and 

8



responsible for killing many homeless and vulnerable people. These drinks are 
also responsible for anti-social behaviour and are a scourge on many local 
communities.  Experience shows, where businesses have removed super 
strength alcohol they have seen a reduction in crime & disorder such as thefts, 
intimidation and violence to staff. 

 
The campaign message is not anti alcohol and recognises the long established 
beer and cider drinking culture in the UK and our own vibrant city atmosphere.  It 
emphasises that super-strength drinks are causing terrible damage to many 
people and that if people with drink problems move off the super-strength drinks 
then their health and life chances will improve.  Officers also maintain that 
educating, supporting and encouraging businesses is a step in the right direction 
of improving the negative alcohol trends in Brighton & Hove.  

 
3.6  Currently there are over 60 off licence businesses who have volunteered to 

remove super-strength alcohol from their premises.  Once ‘Sensible on Strength’ 
is implemented in Brighton & Hove, officers will approach all off licences with a 
view to encouraging them to join the scheme. 

 
3.7  Officers aim to have the scheme fully up and running before Christmas 2013 and 

are working with the council’s press office and design team to ensure that the 
message is as widely spread and understood as possible. 

 
4.  ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 

As an accredited trader scheme, the alternative option is do nothing. Reducing 
cut price super-strength alcohol aims to drive down street drinking-relating 
incidents. 

 
5.   COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 The Sensible on Strength campaign was led by officers in the Council’s licensing 

and trading standards teams in consultation with Equinox, Sussex Police, the 
DAAT and Council communications and legal services. Small convenience stores 
and a national retailer have supported and joined the scheme. 

 
6.  CONCLUSION  
 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Financial Implications: 

 
7.1 Costs of approximately £500 for marketing as well as officer time associated with 

the campaign will be met from within existing regulatory service revenue budgets.  
 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Steven Bedford Date: 17/10/13 
 

Legal Implications: 
 
7.2 The campaign promotes the four licensing objectives. 
   
 Lawyer Consulted: Name R Sidell Date: 15/10/13 

9



 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
7.3 High ABV beer and cider is consumed by adults with low income at risk of 

drinking at hazardous levels. Transition to lower ABV products is anticipated to 
achieve health benefits. 

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
 None. 
 
7.4 Any Other Significant Implications 
 
 Public health is not a licensing consideration but reducing high alcohol by volume 

drinks from the off licence trade should benefit alcohol related morbidity and 
mortality. Evidence based policy supports the local economy and retail industry. 
Local businesses report improved business conditions and income from adopting 
the Sensible on Strength principles. 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 
1. Sensible on Strength draft window sticker. 
 
 
Documents in Members’ Rooms 
 
1. None. 
 
Background Documents 
 
1. None. 
 
 

10



Appendix 1 

 

11



12



We’re a responsible off licence and 
don’t sell super strength beer or cider.

13



14



LICENSING COMMITTEE 
(LICENSING ACT 2003 
FUNCTIONS) 

Agenda Item 16 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Government proposals on personal licences 

Date of Meeting: 21 November 2013 

Report of: Head of Regulatory Services 

Contact Officer: Name: Tim Nichols Tel: 29-2163 

 Email: tim.nichols@brighton-hove.gcsx.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
1.1 This report sets out to inform the Licensing Committee about Government 

proposals on personal licences. 
 
1.2 The Alcohol Programme Board’s response to the consultation is appended. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That the Licensing Committee notes the contents of this report. 
 
3. CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1  The Government aims to reform the system for personal licences. They do not 

believe that renewing personal licences every ten years is an effective or 
proportionate way to tackle crime and disorder and have committed to removing 
that requirement. The Government has also listened to wider concerns that the 
whole system of personal licences itself may be poorly targeted and ineffective. 
There was consultation on the Home Office website between 12 September and 
7 November on the abolition of personal licences altogether. 

 
3.2 The current system for personal licences requires that all alcohol sales be made 

or authorised by a personal licence holder. At the same time, the Designated 
Premises Supervisor (DPS) in relation to licensed premises must hold a personal 
licence.  
Government tells us that this system uses two key safeguards to ensure that 
alcohol is sold responsibly and to prevent crime and disorder at licensed 
premises. First, personal licences may be denied to, or forfeited from, those who 
have criminal convictions for certain offences. Secondly, applicants for a 
personal licence must be trained. To ensure a level playing field for bar staff 
nationally, these safeguards are qualified by two ‘benchmarks’ set by 
Government:  
i. Only offences listed as relevant under the 2003 Act may be considered as a 
basis for denying the grant of, or revoking, a personal licence; and  

15



ii. Only training courses accredited by the Secretary of State are valid for 
applications.  
 

3.3  Home Office perception of weaknesses of the current system 
The Home Office state “Following our discussions with partners during the 
Alcohol Strategy consultation, we have become concerned that this system may 
not be effective in ensuring responsible sales and tackling crime and disorder. 
For example, although all alcohol sales must be at least authorised by a personal 
licence holder, it is not always the case, in practice, that a personal licence 
holder is present on the premises at all times to do this. Moreover, no person 
working at licensed premises except the DPS is required to hold a personal 
licence. All this would seem to restrict the system’s ability to prevent those with 
criminal records and a poor understanding of alcohol harms from working at, or 
even managing, a licensed premises.  
“Finally, and perhaps most fundamentally, the system is not targeted. It is a 
national, blanket requirement. All premises, from the riskiest to the quietest, must 
comply with it – and incur significant costs in training, application fees and 
criminal records checks as a result. This Government questions whether this is 
appropriate for all licensed premises”. 
 

3.4  The Home Office goes on to say: 

“Premises licence conditions as a local alternative 
Licensing authorities already have the power to impose conditions on premises 
licences, as long as those conditions are precise, enforceable and appropriate to 
promote the licensing objectives for the premises in question. They are a flexible 
tool: conditions may, for example, require that CCTV be installed or that door 
staff be present. They may also, already, require strict training requirements of 
those selling alcohol, over and above the requirements already in place through 
the personal licences regime. 
The Government recognises that the safeguards afforded by personal licences – 
training and criminal records checks – are important tools that may be 
appropriate in specific cases. However, conditions added to premises licences 
could provide a better and more targeted way of applying these safeguards. 
Licensing authorities and the police would have a more flexible tool at their 
disposal over which they had local control. Well run businesses, for their part, 
would no longer have to spend money on unnecessary training and criminal 
records checks. 

 

3.5  “Enabling the local alternative 
To ensure that licensing authorities could use such conditions in a flexible and 
effective way, if this proposal were taken forward the Government could 
maintain, and even strengthen, existing legislation in two key ways.  
First, we could keep the national benchmarks for training and criminal records 
checks. At present, these ensure that a level playing field for business exists 
across the country. In the event that personal licences were abolished, these 
benchmarks would still ensure that, if training or criminal records checks were 
required at a premises, businesses would not have to comply with different 
standards from one licensing authority to another. For example, we believe that 
removing the Government’s accreditation of training courses could increase 
burdens on business if employees had to be trained multiple times to comply with 
different local standards.  
Secondly, we could strengthen existing legislation in several areas.  

16



We could: 
i. Require all alcohol sales to be made or authorised by the DPS, rather than a 
personal licence holder 
ii. Allow the police to object to a new DPS based on the crime prevention 
objective in general, rather than only in ‘exceptional circumstances’ 
iii. Allow licensing authorities to require a criminal records declaration to be 
provided with any new application to vary a DPS 
iv. Allow those who either are named as the DPS in relation to a premises licence 
or have accredited training to give up to 50 Temporary Event Notices (TENs) a 
year; those without would be limited to giving five. 
Finally, to make any conditions requiring training easy to enforce for the police 
and licensing authorities, we would work with training providers to ensure that 
training certificates can be provided in a readily available and easily recognisable 
form. 
 

3.6 “Our proposal to abolish personal licences would cut unnecessary bureaucracy 
for businesses while maintaining key safeguards to tackle irresponsible 
premises. As well as abolishing personal licences, we would maintain, or even 
strengthen, existing legislation in several ways. We would:  
i. Amend the mandatory conditions to require all alcohol sales to be authorised 
by the DPS, rather than a personal licence holder; 
ii. Allow the police to object under s.37 of the 2003 Act to a new DPS based on 
the crime prevention objective in general, rather than only in ‘exceptional 
circumstances’; 
iii. Allow licensing authorities to require a criminal records declaration with each 
new change of a DPS; and 
iv. Allow those who either are named as the DPS on a premises licence or have 
accredited training to give up to 50 Temporary Event Notices (TENs) a year; 
those without would be limited to giving only five”. 

 
3.7  Officers do not agree that the removal of personal licences would reduce 

burdens, in terms of time and/or money, on business, including small and 
medium enterprises; it is currently a requirement for personal licence holders to 
renew their licence every ten years.  Officers are also concerned that the 
proposal would undermine the licensing objectives.  As the committee will know, 
unless they are mandatory, conditions can only be added to a licence if proffered 
at application or imposed by a panel following a licensing hearing 
(new/variation/review). 

 
4.  ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 

None. 
 
5.   COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 Consultation was open to licensing authorities, the police and the licensed trade 

as well as residents groups and health bodies on the Home Office website 
between 12 September and 7 November.  This consultation sought views on 
whether personal licences should be abolished, enabling licensing authorities to 
apply relevant conditions to premises licences where appropriate. 

 
 

17



6.  CONCLUSION  
 This report is to inform members. 
 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Financial Implications: 

 
7.1 There are approximately 3,215 personal licence holders registered with Brighton 

& Hove City Council.  Under current legislation, each license holder would be 
required to renew their licence in 2015 at a rate set by statue of £37 per licence. 
In the event that personal licenses are abolished, these fees will not be payable 
to the council.  

 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Steven Bedford Date: 17/10/13 
 

Legal Implications: 
 
7.2 These are detailed in the report.  
   
 Lawyer Consulted: Name R Sidell Date: 15./10/13 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
7.3 None. 
 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 None. 
 
7.4 Any Other Significant Implications 
 
 None. 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 
1. Alcohol Programme Board response to consultation. 
 
 
Documents in Members’ Rooms 
 
1. None. 
 
Background Documents 
 
1. None.  
 
 
 

18



19



20



21



22



LICENSING COMMITTEE 
(LICENSING ACT 2003) 

Agenda Item 17 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Further Entertainment Deregulation Consultation 

Date of Meeting: 21 November 2013 

Report of: Head of Planning and Public Protection 

Contact Officer: Name: Jim Whitelegg Tel: 29-2438 

 Email: Jim.whitelegg@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE    
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
1.1 On 23rd October 2013 DCMS issued a Consultation proposing to further 

deregulate Regulated Entertainment. This Consultation is the second phase in a 
3 pronged attack on red tape in the entertainment licensing regime - the first 
being deregulating plays and performances of dance for audiences of up to 500 
and indoor sporting events for audiences of up to 1000; the third being the 
proposed deregulation of community films and a possible exemption for films 
incidental to another activity which is not itself Regulated Entertainment (e.g. 
eating). This report sets out the second phase. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That members note this report. 
 
2.2 That Members consider whether a response to this consultation is appropriate 

 and if so what that response should be 
 
3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY 

EVENTS: 
 
3.1 This second phase encompasses deregulating the following (all between 08:00 - 

23:00):  
 
• With no audience limitation, entertainment activities held by, or on behalf of, 
Local Authorities, schools and hospitals on their own premises, or entertainment 
activities that are part of nursery provision on non-domestic premises.  
 
• The present audience limit of 200 for live music in licensed premises or a 
workplace will be increased to 500.  
 
• Recorded music in alcohol licensed premises only will benefit from the same 
exemption as exists presently for live music, including the suspension of 
recorded music - related conditions.  
 
• Live and recorded music held on Local Authority, hospital, school or community 
premises by anyone but with the relevant organisation's permission.  

23



 
• Tented circuses will be exempt in respect of performance of dance, 
performance of live music, recorded music, indoor sporting events and any 
performance of a play with no audience limitation.  
 
• Greco - Roman and freestyle wrestling will be exempt with no audience 
limitations. 

 
3.2  Recorded music is not being extended like for like with live music, apparently due 

to Police fears about raves and under 18's parties. The exemption will therefore 
only apply to on-licensed premises (whereas live music also applies to 
workplaces, and will continue to do so when the limit is increased to 500).  

 
3.3  Boxing, wrestling and adult entertainment are generally untouched by these 

proposals, as are films (part of the third wave of deregulation). The only 
exception to this is for Local Authorities, hospitals, schools and nurseries where 
films and boxing/wrestling are exempted in addition to other entertainment 
activities because such 'trusted bodies' are considered lower risk.  

 
3.4 Refer to the appended consultation document and the questions posed. The 

Consultation ends on 17th December 2013. 
 
4. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 Finance and legal services. 
 
5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
 Financial Implications: 
 
5.1 The Licensing Act 2003 provides for fees to be payable to the licensing authority 

in respect of the discharge of their functions. The fee levels are set centrally at a 
level to allow licensing authorities to fully recover the costs of administration, 
inspection and enforcement of the regime 

 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Jeff Coates  Date: 25.10.13 
 
 Legal Implications: 
 
5.2 Legal implications within the body of this report. 

 
 Lawyer Consulted: Rebecca Sidell  Date: 24.10.13 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
5.3 None 
 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
5.4 There are no direct sustainability implications.   
 
 Crime & Disorder Implications:  

24



 
5.5 There are no direct crime implications.  
 

 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
 
5.6 None. 
 
 Public Health Implications: 
 
5.7 None.  
 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
5.8 None 
  
6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 
 
6.1 The duties of the licensing authority are mandatory. 
 
7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 To inform members. 
 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
 
Appendices:  DCMS document - Consultation on a proposal 

to use a Legislative Reform Order to make 
changes to entertainment licensing 2013 

 
Documents in Members’ Rooms: None 
 
Background Documents:   None 
. 

25



26



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Consultation on a proposal to use a 
Legislative Reform Order to make 
changes to entertainment licensing             

Licensing Act 2003         

October 2013 

 

27



28



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

3 

Contents 

 

Chapter 1: Introduction .............................................................................. 5 

Chapter 2: Background to the policy .......................................................... 8 

Chapter 3: Legislative Reform Order-making powers .............................. 12 

Chapter 4: Proposals ............................................................................... 16 

Chapter 5: Cross-activity exemptions  ..................................................... 18 

Chapter 6: Live music .............................................................................. 25 

Chapter 7: Recorded music ..................................................................... 28 

Chapter 8: Live and recorded music exemptions ..................................... 31 

Chapter 9: Circuses ................................................................................. 34 

Chapter 10: Greco-Roman and freestyle wrestling .................................. 36 

Chapter 11: Analysis against requirements of the Legislative and 
Regulatory Reform Act 2006 .................................................................... 38 

Chapter 12: Parliamentary procedure ...................................................... 43 

Chapter 13: Estimated impact of implementation .................................... 45 

Chapter 14: Questions for respondents ................................................... 47 

Annex A: List of consultees ...................................................................... 49 

Annex B: Response form ......................................................................... 52 

Annex C: Parliamentary consideration ..................................................... 57 

            

 

29



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

4 

 

30



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

5 

Chapter 1: Introduction 

A consultation paper issued by the Department for Culture, Media and Sport on behalf 
of the Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Sport & Equalities 

 

Summary of Proposals 

 

What is being 
consulted on?         

The Department proposes to amend the Licensing Act 
2003 so that certain entertainment activities in defined 
circumstances no longer require a licence before they 
can take place. A previous consultation in 2011 had 
sought views on removing licensing requirements in 
England and Wales for most entertainment activities. 
As a result of that  consultation, the Government 
announced a set of deregulatory measures in January 
2013 and this consultation relates to the introduction 
of a range of licensing exemptions for lower risk 
activities and the conditional relaxation of existing 
controls on live and recorded music 

Chapters 
2 and 4-10   

How will these 
proposals be taken 
forward and when will 
they be implemented?             

We intend that the proposed changes are made 
through a Legislative Reform Order under the 
Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006. Subject 
to the outcome of the consultation, we anticipate that 
the changes could come into force as early as April 
2014.                                        

Chapters 
3 and 11-
13      

Consultation This consultation is taking place as required by the 
Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 and in 
accordance with the Government’s consultation 
principles.   

All responses must be received by 17 December 
2013  

                                          

 

  
Purpose of the consultation  
 
1.1  This consultation is about deregulatory changes to entertainment licensing that are 

intended to be implemented via a Legislative Reform Order (LRO). Government policy 
on deregulating entertainment licensing was announced in January 2013 (see 
Chapter 2). This consultation sets out in detail how the Government intends to use a 
LRO to remove unnecessary regulation from smaller scale and neighbourhood 

31



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

6 

events, thereby freeing up organisers to put on eligible entertainment without having 
to fill in licensing paperwork and go through a costly process. It covers plans to: 

 

· amend the licensing requirements in respect of live music and recorded music;   

· bring in cross-activity licensing exemptions for local authorities, schools,  
hospitals, nurseries and circuses; and 

· remove the licensing requirement for Greco-Roman and freestyle wrestling.   
 

Why are these changes being implemented? 
   
1.2 The Government wishes: 
 

· to remove bureaucracy and cost from community entertainment activities and 
bolster creativity and community participation; 
 

· to make it easier for schools, community groups and civil society organisations 
to put on cultural and sporting events by removing them from the entertainment 
licensing regime; and 
 

· to grow the creative economy and remove burdens from small and medium 
sized businesses. In particular, the measures in relation to live and recorded 
music are intended to help pubs, hotels and other hospitality businesses 
diversify their offer and access new markets.  

 
 These changes will either remove controls, or introduce a conditional relaxation of the 

existing controls, on entertainment activities that the Government considers are “lower 
risk” in terms of the licensing objectives (see paragraph 2.3), making it easier for such 
events to take place. The accompanying Impact Assessment (IA) (see Chapter 13) 
analyses in detail the likely benefits and the associated risks of this deregulation.  

 
Who will be interested in this consultation? 
  
1.3  This consultation is primarily aimed at those with an interest in the detailed 

implementation of these deregulatory measures. It sets out the detail of what a LRO is 
intended to deliver, and invites feedback from interested parties about its suitability 
and workability, as well as gathering evidence on whether a LRO satisfies the pre-
conditions set out in the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006. Based on the 
policy consultation in 2011, the following parties may have an interest in this 
consultation:  

· Local Government; 

· Voluntary and creative sectors; 

· Citizens who wish to enjoy or participate in live entertainment;                  

· Residents; 

· Responsible authorities (public bodies that are entitled to make representations 
to the Licensing Authority in relation to a premises licence); and 

· Trade sectors.                                      . 
         

 
 

32



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

7 

In addition, the following organisations, groups and premises may also have an 
interest as potential beneficiaries:  
 

· Schools and Parent/Teacher Associations; 

· Groups using community premises;  

· Churches with church halls; 

· Local community audiences; 

· Village hall management committees; 

· Hospitals; 

· Nurseries; 

· Sixth Form Colleges; 

· Tented circuses; 

· Musicians; 

· Local authority swimming pools and leisure centres;    

· Local authority museums & galleries; and 

· Pubs and restaurants.   
 
How will implementation be taken forward? 
 
1.4  We propose to amend the Licensing Act 2003 (“2003 Act”) by means of a Legislative 

Reform Order (LRO) under section 1 of the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 
2006 (LRRA). This consultation is being conducted in accordance with section 13 of 
the LRRA. Views are invited on all aspects of the consultation paper, and to help this, 
the specific questions running throughout this document are collated in Chapter 14 
and set out in the response form at Annex B. 

 
How does this sit alongside the Government’s overhauling of the Licensing Act 2003 
to tackle alcohol-related issues? 
 
1.5 The proposed LRO is concerned with the deregulation of certain entertainment 

activities between 08:00-23:00, subject in some cases to an audience limit.  It does 
not relate to the licensing of alcohol or late night refreshment. The Home Office has 
already legislated to overhaul the 2003 Act to give local authorities stronger powers to 
remove licences from, or refuse to grant licences to, any premises causing problems 
in relation to the sale (or supply) of alcohol. A number of other measures have been 
introduced to tackle alcohol related problems. The Government published a response 
to its alcohol strategy consultation on 17 July and its next steps to deliver the alcohol 
strategy are available at: 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/223773
/Alcohol_consultation_response_report_v3.pdf 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

8 

Chapter 2: Background to the policy     

What is entertainment licensing?    
 
2.1 Subject to any conditions, definitions and exemptions that may apply, the types of 

entertainment which may be licensable under the Licensing Act 2003 are as follows: 
 

· a performance of a play; 

· an exhibition of a film; 

· an indoor sporting event; 

· a boxing or wrestling entertainment (both indoors and outdoors); 

· a performance of live music; 

· any playing of recorded music;  

· a performance of dance; and 

· entertainment of a similar description to a performance of live music, any playing 
of recorded music or a performance of dance.                          

 
2.2 The 2003 Act may require that some form of authorisation is obtained before one or 

more of these entertainment activities can lawfully be carried out – typically either a 
premises licence/club premises certificate or a Temporary Event Notice (TEN) issued 
by the local licensing authority.  

 
Licensing powers 
 
2.3.  The 2003 Act has four underlying “licensing objectives”: the prevention of crime and 

disorder, public safety, the prevention of public nuisance and the protection of children 
from harm. Licensing authorities must exercise their functions and make their 
decisions with a view to promoting those objectives.  

 
2.4.  In support of these four objectives, an award of a licence or other authorisation may 

be made subject to conditions. These conditions can be placed on a licence at time of 
grant – either volunteered by the applicant or imposed by the licensing authority as 
part of an application to vary a licence – or imposed by the licensing authority as part 
of a licence review. Conditions play an important part in ensuring a ‘contract’ between 
a licensing authority and licensee, and help to establish the context in which licensed 
premises can operate. However, general conditions tend only to apply to regulated 
activities. 

 
2.5.  Similarly, licence reviews play an important role in the controls process. Reviews give 

licensing authorities (and others) powers to address problems, and ensure 
appropriate local representation in the decision making processes. Reviews can be 
triggered by complaints from local residents or businesses, or by representations by 
relevant authorities, such as the police or the licensing authority itself. For a licensee, 

34



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

9 

a licence review is a very serious issue, and failure to comply with the law could lead 
to closure of premises, as well as a fine and/or a prison sentence.  

 
Getting to this consultation stage   
 
2.6 In “The Plan for Growth” published alongside the Budget in 2011, the Government 

announced that it intended to reduce the licensing burden for live music performance 
and bring forward proposals to reduce licensing burdens on other forms of 
entertainment regulated by the 2003 Act.  

 
2.7  In September 2011, the Department issued a policy consultation that sought views on 

a proposal to remove licensing requirements in England and Wales for “regulated 
entertainment. This consultation document can be found here:   
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/72904/c
onsultation_deregulation-scheduleone_2011_vs2.pdf 

 
2.8 In launching the consultation, the Government took the view that the 2003 Act had 

been a missed opportunity to reform the regime for “regulated entertainment”.  Rather 
than enabling entertainment activities, the regime brought in with the 2003 Act had 
either aped previous licensing regimes or brought events into the licensing regime 
regardless of the actual threat that an individual event posed to the licensing 
objectives. The Department was also responding to representations about the 
difficulties that the 2003 Act had caused to the cultural and voluntary sectors and 
commercial organisations, in terms of bringing in costly and bureaucratic processes 
for lower risk events (e.g. school productions, music performances to hospital 
patients, and brass bands playing in the local park).  

 
2.9. The 2011 consultation was predicated on the view that where entertainment activities 

occur in conjunction with alcohol sale or supply, it is the presence of alcohol that is 
generally responsible for any increased threat to the licensing objectives.  The 
Department was seeking views as to whether the requirement for small-scale 
entertainment to be licensed where alcohol is neither sold nor supplied - a significant 
proportion of activities - was likely to be disproportionate to the risk of harm under the 
licensing objectives. 

                                                                                          
2.10 The 2011 consultation set out a broad canvas, with a central proposal to remove from 

the definition of “regulated entertainment” events for audiences of fewer than 5,000 
people, where the entertainment was a performance of live music, a play, or dance, 
an exhibition of a film (provided age classification safeguards could be retained), an 
indoor sporting event, or any playing of recorded music.  The consultation also 
detailed questions as to risks around four main variables: 

 

· audience size; 

· performance end time limitations; 

· venue; and 

· other controls for individual activities.                 
 

2.11 The Department received around 1350 responses. The responses provided the 
Department with evidence that there was support for a proportionate reform of the 
licensing regime that scaled back the central deregulation proposal in the 

35



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

10 

consultation, with lower audience limits than proposed, plus performance cut-off 
times.  

 
Deregulatory measures 
 
2.12 After due consideration of the consultation responses, the Department announced a 

set of deregulatory measures to Parliament on 7th January 2013, and published a 
consultation response document that can be found here:   
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/105725
/Con_entretainment_dereg_response.pdf 

 
2.13 The views expressed by respondents on audience size in relation to public order and 

public safety are set out in the Department’s consultation response (see above). The 
Department concluded that there was a point of general consensus from the 
consultation that events should not be deregulated where the audience exceeded 500 
people (or 1,000 for indoor sport). Some respondents would have wanted this 
audience figure to be lower and others would have wanted it to be higher, but the 
Department considers that it has struck the right balance between quantifying the risk 
(accepting that an event cannot involve zero risk) and appreciating the burden that a 
regulatory regime imposes on businesses and community groups who wish to provide 
lower risk entertainment. By setting the limit at 500 people, there was also a read-
across to the 499 audience upper limit for an event authorised by a TEN, which has 
generally been regarded as an appropriate audience ceiling figure for the light touch 
process of authorising temporary activities. So by deciding to deregulate for 
audiences of not more than 500 people, the Department was conscious that it would 
be removing many temporary activities from the TENs regime. The Department also 
took the view that, in line with other night-time environmental protection regimes, 
23:00 was a suitable end-time, after which deregulation should not apply.   

 
2.14  The Department is now engaged in implementing the set of deregulatory measures 

through changes to legislation in three waves. 
  
2.15 The first wave, by secondary legislation under the 2003 Act, was the partial 

deregulation of plays, dance and indoor sporting events by the Licensing Act 2003 
(Descriptions of Entertainment) (Amendment) Order 2013 (“2013 Order”) that came 
into force on 27 June 2013. The 2013 Order and related explanatory material can be 
found here:  http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1578/contents/made 

 
2.16  This consultation is about implementing a second wave of deregulatory changes by 

making a LRO which will amend the 2003 Act using the powers described in Chapter 
3. The effect of the LRO will be limited to England and Wales, as the 2003 Act does 
not extend to Scotland or Northern Ireland.                  

 
2.17   The Department has also consulted on a third wave, for community film exhibition, that 

closed on 28 August 2013. The Department is currently analysing the consultation 
responses. The closed consultation can be found here:   

           https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/licensing-act-2003-community-film-
exhibition-consultation 

 

36



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

11 

2.18  If, post consultation, a proposal to deregulate the exhibition of film in community 
premises is included in the Deregulation Bill1 when it is introduced to Parliament, it is 
likely that, as set out in the film consultation, an exemption for incidental film would be 
included in the LRO when the Minister lays the proposals before Parliament. This 
exemption would apply where an exhibition of film is incidental to an activity that is not 
in itself regulated entertainment under the 2003 Act. As such, it would be identical to 
the current exemption for incidental live and recorded music (paragraph 7 of Schedule 
1 to the 2003 Act), so the basis on which an activity may be considered ‘incidental’ is 
already well-established.                  

 
What has been deregulated to date?  
 
2.19  As a result of amendments to the 2003 Act by the Live Music Act 2012 Act (“2012 

Act") and the 2013 Order, no licence is required for the following activities to the 
extent that they take place between 08:00-23:00 on any day: 

 

· a performance of a play in the presence of any audience of no more than 500 
people; 

· an indoor sporting event in the presence of any audience of no more than 1,000 
people; 

· performances of dance in the presence of any audience of no more than 500 people; 
and 

· live music, where the live music comprises: 
– a performance of unamplified live music; 
– a performance of live amplified music in a workplace2 with an audience of 

no more than 200 people; or 
– a performance of live music on alcohol licensed premises which takes 

place in the presence of an audience of no more than 200 people, at a time 
when the premises are open for the purpose of being used for the supply of 
alcohol for consumption.  

 
 Further information is available in Chapter 15 of the amended guidance for licensing 

authorities that was issued in June 2013 by the Home Office under section 182 of the 
2003 Act.  This can be found here:  

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/section-182-of-the-licensing-act-2003-
amended-guidance 

 
 
 
                       
 . 

 

 

 
1
 http://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/joint-select/draft-deregulation-bill/ 

The Bill is currently subject to pre-legislative scrutiny.     
 

2
 Other than a workplace which is already licensed under the 2003 Act, or is licensed only for the provision 

of late night refreshment. 

37



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

12 

Chapter 3: Legislative Reform Order-
making powers 

What can be delivered by a Legislative Reform Order?  

 
Section 1  
 
3.1  The proposed Legislative Reform Order (LRO) relies only on the power in section 1 of 

the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 (LRRA). Using that power, a Minister 
can make a LRO for the purpose of “removing or reducing any burden, or the overall 
burdens, resulting directly or indirectly for any person from any legislation”. 

  
3.2 Section 1(3) of the LRRA defines a burden as:  

· a financial cost;   

· an administrative inconvenience;  

· an obstacle to efficiency, productivity or profitability; or  

· a sanction, criminal or otherwise, which affects the carrying on of any lawful 
activity.  

 
Preconditions 
  
3.3  Each proposal for a LRO must satisfy the preconditions set out in section 3 of the 

LRRA. Some of the questions in this document are designed to elicit the information 
that the Minister will need in order to satisfy the Parliamentary Scrutiny Committees 
that, among other things, the LRO proposal meets these preconditions. For this 
reason, we would particularly welcome your views on whether and how each aspect 
of the proposed changes in this consultation document meets the following 
preconditions (which are analysed in more detail in Chapter 11):  

 
(i) Non-legislative solutions – A LRO may not be made if there are non-legislative 
solutions which will satisfactorily remedy the difficulty which the LRO is intended to 
address. An example of a non-legislative solution might be issuing guidance about a 
legislative regime.  

 
(ii) Proportionality – The effect of a provision made by a LRO must be proportionate 
to its policy objective. A policy objective might be achieved in a number of different 
ways, some of which may be more onerous than others and may be considered to be 
a disproportionate means of securing the desired outcome. Before making a LRO, the 
Minister must consider whether there is an appropriate relationship between the policy 
aim and the means chosen to achieve it.  

 

38



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

13 

(iii) Fair balance – Before making a LRO, the Minister must be of the opinion that a 
fair balance is being struck between the public interest and the interests of any person 
adversely affected by the LRO. It is possible to make a LRO which will have an 
adverse effect on the interests of some people if the Minister is satisfied that the 
overall policy will generate beneficial effects which are in the public interest.  

 
(iv) Necessary protection – A Minister may not make a LRO if he or she considers 
that the proposals would remove any necessary protection. The notion of necessary 
protection can extend to economic protection, health and safety protection, and the 
protection of civil liberties, the environment and national cultural heritage.  

 
(v) Rights and freedoms – a LRO cannot be made unless the Minister is satisfied 
that it will not prevent any person from continuing to exercise any right or freedom 
which they might reasonably expect to continue to exercise. This condition recognises 
that there are certain rights that it would not be fair to take away from people using a 
LRO.  

 
(vi) Constitutional significance – A Minister may not make a LRO if he or she 
considers that the provision made by the LRO is of constitutional significance.  

 
3.4  It should be noted that even where the preconditions of section 3 of the LRRA are 

met, a LRO cannot: 
  

· Deliver highly controversial proposals;  

· Remove burdens which fall solely on Ministers or Departments except where the 
burden affects the Minister or Department in the exercise of regulatory functions;  

· Confer or transfer any function of legislating on anyone other than a Minister, 
persons or bodies that have statutory functions conferred on or transferred to them 
by an enactment, or a body or office which has been created by the LRO itself;  

· Impose, abolish or vary taxation;  

· Create a new criminal offence or increase the penalty for an existing offence so 
that it is punishable above certain limits;  

· Provide authorisations for forcible entry, search or seizure, or compel the giving of 
evidence;  

· Amend or repeal any provision of Part 1 of the LRRA;  

· Amend or repeal any provision of the Human Rights Act 1998;  

· Remove burdens arising solely from common law.  
 
Consultation 
  
3.5  The LRRA requires Departments to consult widely on all LRO proposals. The list of 

consultees to which this document has been sent is at Annex A. Comments are 
invited from all interested parties, and not just from those to whom the document has 
been sent. A response form is at Annex B. 

  
3.6  A note explaining the Parliamentary process for LROs can be found at Annex C. This 

will help respondents understand when and to whom they are able to put their views.  
  
3.7  This consultation document follows the guidance on the Government’s Consultation 

principles that can be found here:  
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance 

39



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

14 

         
 It is an 8 week consultation in view of the earlier policy consultation exercise that was 

conducted in 2011 (see Chapter 2).                                  
 
Disclosure 
  
3.8  Normal practice will be for details of representations received in response to this 

consultation document to be disclosed, and for respondents to be identified. While the 
LRRA provides for non-disclosure of representations, the Minister will include the 
names of all respondents in the list submitted to Parliament alongside the draft LRO. 
The Minister is also obliged to disclose any representations that are requested by, or 
made to, the relevant Parliamentary Scrutiny Committees. This is a safeguard against 
attempts to bring improper influence to bear on the Minister. We envisage that, in the 
normal course of events, this provision will be used rarely and only in exceptional 
circumstances. 

  
3.9  You should note that: 
  

· If you request that your representation is not disclosed, the Minister will not be 
able to disclose the contents of your representation without your express consent 
and, if the representation concerns a third party, their consent too. Alternatively, 
the Minister may disclose the content of your representation but only in such a way 
as to anonymise it.  

 

· In all cases where your representation concerns information on a third party, the 
Minister is not obliged to pass it on to Parliament if he considers that disclosure 
could adversely affect the interests of that third party and he is unable to obtain the 
consent of the third party. 

 
3.10  Please identify any information which you or any other person involved do not wish to 

be disclosed. You should note that many facsimile and e-mail messages carry, as a 
matter of course, a statement that the contents are for the eyes only of the intended 
recipient. In the context of this consultation such appended statements will not be 
construed as being requests for non-inclusion in the post consultation review unless 
accompanied by an additional specific request for confidentiality.  

 
Confidentiality and freedom of information 
  
3.11  It is possible that requests for information contained in consultation responses may be 

made in accordance with access to information regimes (these are primarily the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000, the Data Protection Act 1998 and the 
Environmental Information Regulations 2004). If you do not want your response to be 
disclosed in response to such requests for information, you should identify the 
information you wish to be withheld and explain why confidentiality is necessary. Your 
request will only be acceded to if it is appropriate in all the circumstances. An 
automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by your IT system will not of itself be 
regarded as binding on the Government.  

 

40



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

15 

Responding to this consultation  
 
3.12  You can respond to this consultation in the following ways:  
 

Online:  
To Regulated_Entertainment_Consultation@Culture.gsi.gov.uk 
   
By post: 
You can print out Annex B and fill in responses by hand.  Please send these to: Ian 
Jenkins, Entertainment Licensing LRO Consultation Co-ordinator, Department for 
Culture, Media and Sport, 100 Parliament Street, London SW1A 2BQ  

 
Closing date:   
The closing date for responses is 17 December 2013.   

 
After the consultation:   
We will publish an analysis of the responses after the consultation has closed.        

.  
Complaints:  
If you have any comments or complaints about the consultation process (as opposed 
to comments on these issues that are part of the consultation) please send them to: 
Complaints Department (Consultations), Department for Culture, Media and Sport, 
100 Parliament Street, London SW1A 2BQ  

 
 
 

41



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

16 

Chapter 4: Proposals 

4.1  The Department intends to implement the announced policy position by amending the 
2003 Act, so reducing the burden of entertainment licensing for reasons set out in the 
2011 consultation. The Department is now consulting on the detail of its announced 
policy position (summarised in the table below) and invites views on whether the 
proposal to implement through a LRO satisfies the preconditions set out in the LRRA 
(Chapter 11). 

 

Chapter  Policy position   

 

 

 

Deregulation will only apply to activities below which are conducted 
between 08:00-23:00 to minimise any risk of excess noise when the 
impact of noise disturbance on households is highest.                                                       

5 Cross-activity exemptions  

The following will be exempt from entertainment licensing between 08:00-
23:00 with no audience limitations: 

· Entertainment activities held by, or on behalf of, local authorities on 
their own premises. 

· Entertainment activities held by, or on behalf of, hospitals and 
schools on their own premises. 

· Entertainment activities that are part of nursery provision on non-
domestic premises. 
 

6 Live music 

A performance of live amplified music in alcohol licensed premises or in a 
workplace will not require specific permission where the entertainment 
takes place between 08:00-23:00 and the audience consists of up to 500 
people. The present audience ceiling is 200 people.           

 

7 Recorded music 

Any playing of recorded music in alcohol licensed premises will not require 
specific permission where the entertainment takes place between 08:00-
23:00 and the audience consists of up to 500 people.  

 

8 Live and recorded music exemptions 

The following events will be exempt from entertainment licensing for live 
and recorded music between 08:00-23:00, where the audience consists of 

42



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

17 

up to 500 people: 

· Activities held on local authority premises.  

· Activities held on hospital and school premises.  

· Activities held in community premises. 
  

9 Circuses  

Tented circuses will be exempt from entertainment licensing in respect of 
performances of live music, the playing of recorded music, indoor sporting 
events and any performance of a play or dance that takes place between 
08:00-23:00, with no audience limitation. 

 

10 Greco-Roman and freestyle wrestling  

Above wrestling disciplines to be exempt from licensing, with no audience 
limitations, if these contests take place between 08:00-23:00. 

             

 

    
 

 

43



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

18 

Chapter 5: Cross-activity exemptions  

Cross-activity exemptions:  local authorities, hospitals, schools and nursery provision      
 
5.1 In January 2013, the Department announced that it intended to exempt certain bodies 

from most forms of entertainment licensing as follows:    
 

 
Schedule One activities held on their own premises by Local Authorities (to Parish 
level), Hospitals, Nurseries and Schools (except Higher Education) will be exempt 
from entertainment licensing between 08:00-23:00, with no audience restrictions.   
 

 
We are now consulting on the detail of this deregulatory measure for inclusion in a 
LRO. 

 
Detail on the activities to be included in these cross-activity exemptions 
 
5.2 We envisage that all entertainment activities described in paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 

to the 2003 Act will be included in these exemptions. These activities are:  

o a performance of a play; 

o an exhibition of a film;  

o an indoor sporting event; 

o a boxing or wrestling entertainment;     

o a performance of live music; 

o any playing of recorded music; 

o a performance of dance; 

o entertainment of a similar description to a performance of live music, any playing 
of recorded music or a performance of dance.                          

 
 However, these exemptions will not extend to adult entertainment, to the extent that 

the 2003 Act plays a part in the current controls process. The background and policy 
position on adult entertainment was set out in Chapter 11 of the 2011 consultation, 
and there was a strong consensus in the consultation responses that existing 
restrictions on sexual entertainment should be maintained.  

 
 
 
 
 

44



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

19 

Detail on institutions to be included in these cross-activity exemptions 
 
5.3 We envisage that these exemptions will apply to local authorities, hospitals, schools, 

and nursery provision. This is because the Department considers that local authorities 
and other trusted civil society organisations, as well as nurseries who want to put on 
entertainment for the benefit of the children they look after, should where possible be 
freed from current entertainment licensing arrangements particularly where alcohol 
licence considerations do not apply.   

     
5.4 The Department considers that a high level of deregulation should apply to local 

authorities, as they are directly and democratically accountable to the local 
community.  The Department also believes that the same level of deregulation should 
apply to most hospitals, schools, and nurseries as, in terms of the licensing 
objectives, they are competent lower risk civil society institutions and providers that 
are:  

· subject to legal duties, inspection and other regulatory regimes (e.g. noise 
nuisance legislation, fire regulations and health and safety legislation); 

· subject to local scrutiny through being part of the wider community;  

· accountable through their governance structure; and 

· have recognised persons responsible for the day-to-day running and decision-
making within individual premises, with whom enforcement agencies or local 
residents can raise any concerns. 
 

5.5  The Department considers that where a local authority, hospital or school organises 
regulated entertainment on its own premises, those activities should be exempted 
from licensing requirements (as set out above) between 08:00-23:00, with no 
limitation on audience size.  It is important to note that at these events, a licence to 
sell or supply alcohol on these premises would still be required, and controls in place 
in relation to the alcohol licence would remain. However, no authorisation under the 
2003 Act would be required to carry on regulated entertainment that falls within the 
scope of these cross-activity exemptions.  The entertainment would be exempt 
without further condition. Instead, these “trusted bodies” would remain subject to a 
range of other legal duties described in Chapter 11, while also continuing to work 
closely as required with local authorities, police and their neighbours on event 
management. The Department also considers that where a nursery organises 
regulated entertainment as part of such provision on non-domestic premises for which 
it is registered, those activities should be exempted. 

 
Local Authorities 
 
5.6   We are minded to set out an exemption for local authorities as follows. 
              
5.6.1  The Department envisages that entertainment activities organised by, or on behalf of, 

a local authority on that local authority’s premises will be exempt from entertainment 
licensing between 08:00-23:00, with no audience restrictions. We are minded to base 
the definition of ‘local authority’ on the definition given in section 270 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended), as follows:  

· County councils, County borough councils, district councils, unitary authorities, 
metropolitan district councils, and London borough councils;  

45



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

20 

· Statutory parish councils (England) and community councils (Wales), provided that 
any such a council is not subject to a reorganisation order in relation to abolishing 
and dissolving that council; 

· Greater London Authority;  

· City of London (in its capacity as a local authority);   

· Transport for London;  

· London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority; 

· London Legacy Development Corporation;  

· Council of the Isles of Scilly;  

· National Park Authorities; 

· Broads Authority;  

· Passenger Transport Executives;     

· Port Health Authorities;                  

· The Under Treasurer of the Middle Temple and the Sub-Treasurer of the Inner 
Temple, (in their capacities as local authorities); and 

· Waste Disposal Authorities. 

 
5.6.2 The inclusion of the phrase “on behalf of” is to give local authorities freedom to host 

events that they sponsor but do not themselves deliver (e.g. an event organised by a 
cultural trust).                  

            
5.6.3 In terms of defining ‘local authority premises’, we mean any non-domestic property 

(land or building) over which a local authority has, to any extent, control.  
 

5.6.4  We would expect the following types of  local authority premises to be covered by this 
exemption:  

§ Public parks and other public spaces;    

§ Town halls and administrative offices; 

§ Libraries; 

§ Swimming pools and leisure centres; 

§ Community halls; and 

§ Museums and galleries 

5.6.5 The Department considers that any entertainment event organised by a local authority 
body, or under their aegis, on their own premises should be considered to be lower 
risk in relation to the licensing objectives.             

  

Consultation Question 1 

Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for 
local authorities? 

 

46



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

21 

 
 
Hospitals 
 
5.7  We are minded to set out an exemption for hospitals as follows.  

             
5.7.1  The Department envisages that entertainment activities organised by, or on behalf of, 

a healthcare organisation on their own hospital premises should be exempt from 
 entertainment licensing between 08:00-23:00, with no audience restrictions. We are 
minded to base the definition of hospital on that given in section 275 of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), comprising the following:  

   
 (a) any institution for the reception and treatment of persons suffering from illness3; 
 (b) any maternity home;  
 (c) any institution for the reception and treatment of persons during  convalescence or 

persons requiring medical rehabilitation; and  
 (d) any clinics, dispensaries or out-patient departments maintained in connection with 

an establishment mentioned in (a) to (c) above. 
  
5.7.2 The inclusion of the phrase “on behalf of” is to give healthcare organisations freedom 

to host events that they sponsor but do not themselves deliver (e.g. a charitable event 
for the hospital).       

 
5.7.3 In terms of defining ‘hospital premises’, we mean any non-domestic land or building 
 over which a hospital has, to any extent, control.                          

 
 5.7.4 We would expect the following types of ‘hospital premises’ to be covered by this 

 exemption:              
 

§ NHS hospitals; 
§ Independent sector hospitals; and 
§ Hospices  

 
5.7.5 The Department considers that any entertainment event organised by one of these 

healthcare organisations, or under their aegis, on their own hospital premises should 
be considered to be lower risk in relation to the licensing objectives.             

 

Consultation Question 2 

Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for 
hospitals?     

                      

 
  

 

 
3
 For this purpose, “illness” includes any disorder or disability of the mind and any injury or disability requiring 

medical or dental treatment or nursing. 

47



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

22 

Schools  
  
5.8   We are minded to set out an exemption for schools as follows. 
 
5.8.1 The Department envisages that entertainment activities organised by, or on behalf of, 

the governing body4 of a school on school premises will be exempt from 
entertainment licensing between 08:00-23:00, with no audience restrictions. We are 
minded to base the definition of ‘school’ on that given in section 4 of the Education Act 
1996 (i.e. one providing (a) primary education, (b) secondary education, or (c) both 
primary and secondary education). The Department also proposes to include sixth 
form colleges, 16 to 19 Academies and nursery schools within this exemption. The 
exemption would apply to:                  

Ø A ‘maintained school’ within the meaning given in section 20(7) of the School 
Standards and Framework Act 1998, where that school is maintained by a local 
authority; 

Ø An ‘Independent School’, within the meaning given in section 463 of the Education 
Act 1996 and entered on a register of independent schools maintained under 
section 158 of the Education Act 2002; 

Ø A ‘Pupil Referral Unit’ within the meaning given in section 19 of the Education Act 
1996; 

Ø An ‘Academy school’ within the meaning given in section 1A(3) of the Academies 
Act 2010; 

Ø An ‘Alternative Provision Academy’ within the meaning given in section 1C(3) of 
the Academies Act 2010; 

Ø A ‘non-maintained special school’ approved under section 342 of the Education 
Act 1996; 

Ø A ‘16 to 19 Academy’ within the meaning given in section 1B(3) of the Academies 
Act 2010; 

Ø A designated ‘Sixth Form College’ within the meaning given in section 91 of the 
Further and Higher Education Act 1992; and    

Ø A ‘maintained nursery school’ within the meaning given in section 22(9) of the 
School Standards and Framework Act 1998.  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
5.8.2  The inclusion of the phrase “on behalf of” is to give these educational institutions 

freedom to host events that they sponsor but do not themselves deliver (e.g. PTA 
events).   

  
5.8.3 In terms of defining ‘school premises’, we mean any non-domestic land or building 

over which a school (as defined above) has, to any extent, control.  

    
 5.8.4 We would expect the following types of ‘school premises’ to be covered by this 

exemption:  

 

 

4
 The proprietor for independent schools; the local authority or management committee for Pupil Referral 

Units.           

48



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

23 

§ Community schools; 

§ Foundation schools; 

§ Voluntary-aided schools; 

§ Voluntary controlled schools; 

§ Registered independent schools; 

§ Pupil referral units; 

§ Academies and free schools;  

§ Non-maintained special schools; 

§ 16 to 19 Academies; 

§ Sixth form colleges; 

§ Nursery schools; and 

§ Children’s homes that qualify as schools             
     

5.8.5 We would expect the following types of premises not to be covered by this exemption:  
              

§ General Further Education Colleges (excluding sixth form colleges);       

§ Higher Education Institutions; and            

§ Language schools 
 
5.8.6 The Department considers that any entertainment event organised by a school 

governing body, or under their aegis, on their own premises should be considered to 
be lower risk in relation to the licensing objectives. The Department considers that 
only educational institutions that fall within this definition can be considered, with any 
certainty, to be lower risk civil society institutions, as they are inherently concerned 
with the protection of young people. The Department decided against expanding the 
exemption to include General FE colleges and Higher Education Institutions because 
it considered that this would pose a greater risk to the licensing objectives. 

  

Consultation Question 3 

Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for 
schools?  

  

 
Nurseries (early years and day care provision)         
 
5.9  We are minded to set out a nurseries exemption for early years provision (England) 

and day care (Wales) (other than that provided by a maintained nursery school) as 
follows. 

 
5.9.1 The Department envisages that all entertainment activities organised as part of early 

years provision in England (as defined by section 96(2) of the Childcare Act 2006) or 
of day care in Wales (as defined by section 19(3) of the Children and Families 
(Wales) Measure 2010) on non-domestic premises for which the provider is registered 

49



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

24 

under Part 3 of the Childcare Act 2006 or Part 2 of the Children and Families (Wales) 
Measure 2010, should be exempt from entertainment licensing between 08:00-23:00, 
with no audience restrictions. This exemption would include relevant entertainment 
activities organised on behalf of such a provider.                              

 
5.9.2  The intention is remove any requirement for a licence for an activity provided as part 

of early years provision in England or day care in Wales on non-domestic premises 
(e.g. a film exhibited to young children). This exemption would apply to private and 
voluntary nurseries, pre-schools, and children’s centres registered for early years 
provision in England or day care in Wales, that provide regular care and education in 
premises that are not someone’s home.  

      
5.9.3 We would expect the following would fall outside this exemption:  

§ Activities not organised as part of early years provision (England) or day care 
(Wales);   

§ Activities on premises where the provider is not registered – such as where 
childcare is for short or infrequent periods of time (e.g. crèches, some school 
holiday provision); 

§ Any out-of-school provision for children where the provider is not registered (e.g. 
organisations such as scouts, religious activities, educational tuition); and 

§ Childcare on domestic premises                            
 
5.9.4 The Department considers that entertainment activities provided as part of provision 

for children by a registered provider, on non-domestic premises are lower risk with 
regard to the licensing objectives.              

 

Consultation Question 4 

Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for any 
person offering early years and day care provision?  

  

  

Cross-cutting questions 

  

Consultation Question 5 

Do you agree that all local authorities and every hospital, school and nursery 
provider specified above, regardless of size, resources and capability should be 
included in these exemptions?  If not, which bodies would you exclude from these 
exemptions and why?                   

 

Consultation Question 6 

Are you aware of any local authority body, hospital, school (including children’s 
residential provision) or nursery provider that, in terms of the licensing objectives, 
ought to be included in these cross-activity exemptions and currently would not be?   

    

50



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

25 

Chapter 6: Live music        

Live music entertainment in alcohol licensed premises and other workplaces  

         
6.1 In January 2013, the Department announced that it intended to raise the audience 

threshold for the deregulation introduced by the Live Music Act 2012. It said:  
 

 

We have listened to calls in the consultation to retain controls so that amplified music 
is not deregulated in all circumstances.  We have noted also the various calls for a 
higher audience threshold than the 200 audience limit in the Live Music Act 2012, 
and noted also the widespread support for the 2012 Act’s use of Reviews under the 
Licensing Act as a deterrent for noise and public order problems. We will therefore 
launch a Legislative Reform Order this year to raise the Live Music Act’s audience 
threshold for permitted music performance from 200 to 500 in on-licensed premises 
and workplaces so that more small businesses and premises can benefit in these 
controlled circumstances.  
 

 
6.2  In the 2011 consultation, the need to encourage more live music performances was 

the focus of most of the responses received. Since then, the Live Music Act 2012 (the 
2012 Act) – which the Department understands is largely viewed as a success for 
small venues – has come into force (October 2012), deregulating in part the 
performance of live amplified and unamplified music as follows: 

 

· The 2012 Act removed the licensing requirement for unamplified live music 
taking place between 08:00-23:00 in all venues, subject to the right of a 
licensing authority, when that performance takes place on premises authorised 
to supply alcohol for consumption on those premises, to impose conditions 
relating to live music following a review of a premises licence or club premises 
certificate;  

· It also removed the licensing requirement for amplified live music taking 
place between 08:00-23:00 before audiences of no more than 200 persons on 
premises authorised to supply alcohol for consumption on those premises 
and which are open for the purposes of that supply of alcohol, and suspended 
any existing conditions on the premises licence or club premises certificate 
relating to live music. However, the licensing authority has power to impose 
conditions about live music following a review of that premises licence or club 
premises certificate, and where that power is exercised, performances of live 
music on those premises will become licensable once again; and  

· It also removed the licensing requirement for amplified live music taking 
place between 08:00-23:00 before audiences of no more than 200 persons in 
workplaces not otherwise licensed under the 2003 Act (or licensed only for the 
provision of late night refreshment). 

51



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

26 

 
 A workplace means any premises, or part of premises, which are not domestic 

premises and are made available to any person as a place of work.        
  
6.3 The Department intends to utilise a LRO to raise the audience ceiling for permitted 

live music performance from the current level of 200 to 500. This would, in controlled 
circumstances, enable greater numbers of small businesses and premises to benefit 
and give performers further opportunities to perform in front of audiences in venues 
across the country. The status of licence conditions relating to live music 
entertainment, post the Live Music Act 2012, will remain as set out in the amended 
guidance for licensing authorities issued by the Home Office under section 182 of the 
2003 Act (see paragraph 2.19) to ensure that appropriate action can be taken should 
the need arise. 

6.4. The Department considers that extending the audience threshold to 500 will not give 
rise to significant additional risk to the licensing objectives. It is expected that 
premises that want to put on performances of live music and have the capacity to do 
so for audiences of up to 500 people will already be using the opportunity to 
deregulate for audiences up to 200 people. This measure will simply raise the 
audience limit threshold to allow more people into such venues. Raising the audience 
limit to not more than 500 people is also in line with the partial deregulation of plays 
and dance under the 2013 Order (see paragraph 2.19). 

 
Live music in premises used primarily for the supply of alcohol  
 
6.5  The effect of an increase in the audience cap from 200 to 500 people would be that a 

performance of live music on alcohol on-licensed premises - reflecting the 
amendments made to the 2003 Act by the Live Music Act 2012 - would not be 
licensable to the extent that:  

 
(a) at the time the live music takes place, the premises are open for the 

purposes of being used for the supply of alcohol for consumption on the 
premises;  

(b) the live music takes place in the presence of an audience of no more than 
500 persons; and 

(c) the live music takes place between 08.00-23.00 on the same day, or where 
the Secretary of State makes an order relaxing opening hours for special 
occasions5, between the hours specified in that order.  

 
 Additionally, where live music takes place under these circumstances, then the effect 

of all existing licence conditions that relate to the performance of live music is 
suspended. However, on a review of a premises licence or club premises certificate, 
the effect of any such conditions may be reactivated by a licensing authority, and new 
conditions relating to live music may also be added by a licensing authority on review 
as if any such performance of live music was licensable. Thereafter, an authorisation 
under the 2003 Act will be required for any performance of live music on those 
premises. 

 

 

 

5
 Section 172 of the 2003 Act (to date, this has been done for the royal wedding and the Diamond Jubilee). 

52



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

27 

 
 
Live music in workplaces                                                                                                                                         
 
6.6  For workplaces, the effect of an increase in the audience cap from 200 to 500 people 

would be that a performance of live music at a workplace - reflecting the amendments 
made to the 2003 Act by the Live Music Act 2012 - would not be licensable to the 
extent that:  

 
(a) the place where the performance is provided is not licensed under the 2003 

Act (or is licensed only for the provision of late night refreshment), but is a 
workplace as defined in regulation 2(1) of the Workplace (Health, Safety 
and Welfare) Regulations 1992, 

(b) the live music performance takes place in the presence of an audience of 
no more than 500 persons; and  

(c) the live music takes place between 08:00-23:00 on the same day. 
 

   
 

Consultation Question 7 

Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for live 
music, taking into account experience since the Live Music Act 2012 came into 
force?   

53



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

28 

Chapter 7: Recorded music  

Recorded music entertainment in alcohol licensed premises  
 
7.1  In January 2013, the Department announced a deregulatory measure for the playing 

of recorded music. It said: 

  

We will launch a Legislative Reform Order to………suspend regulation for the 
recorded music activity in on-licensed premises between 08:00-23:00, which like live 
music in the same premises will be subject to licensing Reviews and the ever present 
potential for licence controls and sanctions under the 2003 Act.    

 

 
7.2 As set out in Chapter 6, the Live Music Act 2012 partially deregulated live music 

entertainment, so that in certain circumstances, live music is no longer a licensable 
activity. There is a read-across between live music performance and recorded music 
events, such as discos and DJ events (where a performance of live music and the 
playing of recorded music often meet) and we see no reason why deregulation of the 
playing of recorded music should not be contemplated in appropriate venues and 
circumstances.          

 
7.3 The Department listened carefully to the views expressed by the police and others in 

response to the 2011 consultation:  
 
 
 “Most residents were very opposed to recorded music deregulation either totally, or 

outside of a controlled environment. The view from the police and local authorities 
was that recorded music activities should not be completely deregulated to audiences 
of any size, based on experience of this type of unlicensed activity and the likelihood 
of provoking public order incidents and public nuisance problems. 

 
 The police also had serious concerns about “raves” (unlicensed music events, often in 

conjunction with excessive alcohol or drug consumption). The police were concerned 
about the overall public order and public safety aspects of these events if deregulated, 
including any draw on policing resources, and the overall difficulty in halting such an 
event when it is in progress.  

 
 The public safety element was also echoed by local authorities and other blue light 

services, who gave examples of unregulated events which had proved problematic 
and which could have ended disastrously. ACPO were of the view that more of these 
problem events would be likely to occur if licensing for recorded music events were 
removed, noting also the increased portability of equipment suited to purpose and 
unprohibitive costs. 

54



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

29 

 
 
 
  
 
 The police also stated concerns about recorded music activities held outside of a 

licensing framework in respect of gang violence, drug, knife and gun crime and other 
local disturbance. There were additional concerns, particularly in relation to recorded 
music events, about “bring your own” or “pre-loading” for events and also the effect of 
“dry discos” for the under 18s, which the police stated were often far from “dry” and 
which can cause disorder problems.” 

 
 
 
 For the above reasons, the Department envisages (compared with live music) a more 

limited deregulation of the licensing regime for the playing of recorded music that 
would be applicable only to premises used primarily for the supply of alcohol.   

 
7.4 The Department intends to introduce a LRO to remove the licensing requirement for 

the playing of recorded music between 08:00-23:00 before audiences of no more than 
500. This deregulation would be limited to premises authorised to be used for the 
supply of alcohol for consumption on those premises, at times when those premises 
are open for the purposes of that supply of alcohol and would suspend any existing 
conditions on the premises licence or club premises certificate relating to recorded 
music.  Such premises would be subject to the licensing authority having the power  
to impose conditions about recorded music following a review of a premises licence or 
club premises certificate, and where that power is exercised, performances of 
recorded music on those premises would become licensable once again. 

 
7.5.  This would, in controlled circumstances, enable greater numbers of small businesses 

and premises to play recorded music, but on the basis (as applies post the Live Music 
Act 2012) that licensing authorities can take action should the need arise.    

 
7.6 The Department considers that setting the audience threshold at 500 is appropriate 

and will not pose a significant risk to the licensing objectives (see Chapter 11). This 
measure will also allow such audiences to enjoy recorded music up to the new 
audience limit of not more than 500 people, something which is in line with the partial 
deregulation of plays and dance under the 2013 Order. 

 
Detailed policy 
 
7.7  The effect of the Department’s proposal would be that the playing of recorded music 

on alcohol on-licensed premises would not be licensable to the extent that:  
 

(a) at the time of the playing of recorded music, the premises are open for the 
purposes of being used for the supply of alcohol for consumption on the 
premises;  

(b) the recorded music takes place in the presence of an audience of no more 
than 500 persons; and 

55



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

30 

(c) the recorded music takes place between 08:00-23:00 on the same day, or 
where the Secretary of State makes an order relaxing opening hours for 
special occasions, between the hours specified in that order.  

 
 Additionally, where recorded music takes place under these circumstances, then the 

effect of all existing licence conditions that relate to the playing of recorded music is 
suspended. However, on a review of a premises licence or club premises certificate, 
the effect of any such conditions may be reactivated by a licensing authority, and new 
conditions relating to recorded music may also be added by a licensing authority on 
review as if any such playing of recorded music was licensable. Thereafter, an 
authorisation under the 2003 Act will be required for any playing of recorded music on 
those premises. 

 
7.8.  Given the public order, public safety, and public nuisance concerns expressed during 

the 2011 consultation, the Department considers that the potential sanction of a 
licence review is fundamental to ensuring that this limited deregulation for the playing 
of recorded music does not pose significant risks to the licensing objectives. This 
sanction has been bolstered by recent changes to the legislation so that licensing 
authorities themselves can instigate a review, as well as local residents, businesses 
and the police. For a licensee, a licence review can be a very serious issue, and 
failure to comply with the law could lead to closure of the premises, as well as a fine 
and/or a prison sentence.  

 

Consultation Question 8    

Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for 
recorded music in on-licensed premises? 

 

 
 
 

56



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

31 

Chapter 8: Live and recorded music 
exemptions 

Live and recorded music exemptions between 08:00-23:00 for audiences up to 500 on 
Local Authority, hospital, school, nursery and community premises  

 

8.1 In January 2013, the Department announced an exemption for the performance of live 
music and the playing of recorded music in certain circumstances. It said: 

 

Live and recorded music activities held on premises owned by Local Authorities 
(including parish councils) with the specific permission of that authority; Hospitals; 
Nurseries; Schools (except Higher education) with the specific permission of those 
organisations, will be exempt from licensing requirements for audiences of up to 500 
people. 

Community Premises (such as Church halls, Village halls and community centres) 
will be exempt from licensing requirements for live and recorded music for audiences 
of up to 500 people.”   

 

 
Local Authorities, hospitals and schools                         
 
8.2 As set out in Chapter 5, the Department considers that local authorities and other 

trusted civil society organisations should, where appropriate, be freed from current 
entertainment licensing arrangements.  Hence the exemptions described in Chapter 5 
would apply where: 
 

· a performance of live music or playing of recorded music took place between 
08:00-23:00, and that performance was organised by, or on behalf of, a local 
authority, hospital or school on their own premises;  

· a performance of live music or playing of recorded music took place between 
08:00-23:00 as part of nursery provision, on non-domestic premises in respect 
of which the provider is registered.             

 
8.3 The Department also wishes to encourage performances of live music and recorded 

music to be held on local authority, hospital or school premises, where specific 
permission is given.  The premises of local authorities and such institutions are 
defined in paragraphs 5.6.3, 5.7.3 and 5.8.3. The difference to the exemption in this 
Chapter, compared to that described in Chapter 5, is that the music performance 
activity does not need to have been organised by, or on behalf of, the local authority, 

57



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

32 

hospital or school.  In this Chapter, local authorities, hospitals and schools are able to 
permit the ‘hiring out’ of their own premises for music entertainment by any party.         

 
8.4.  The Department intends to utilise a LRO to remove the licensing requirement for live 

and recorded music activities between 08:00-23:00 before audiences of no more than 
500 people on local authority, hospital and school premises, where the relevant body 
for those premises has given its specific permission. The Department considers that 
music entertainment held in such circumstances is lower risk in relation to the 
licensing objectives.     

 
Nurseries                   
 
8.5 As set out in Chapter 5, the deregulatory measure for nursery (early years and day 

care) provision is differently drawn and concerned with entertainment activities 
organised as part of this provision on any non-domestic premises for which the 
provider is registered. In some cases (such as where a nursery has sole use of a 
purpose-built building), it may be appropriate to extend the exemption described 
above to enable that person or body to permit music entertainment by any other 
person, without that entertainment having to form part of early years provision in 
England or day care in Wales. In many cases, however, the nursery provider will be 
one of a number of users of particular premises (e.g. a hotel) and will not itself be able 
to give permission. We would welcome views on whether, on reflection, it is 
appropriate and feasible to include nursery (early years and day care) premises in this 
exemption, recognising also that many such providers may occupy ‘community 
premises’ and so music entertainment will be covered by the proposed community 
premises exemption set out below. 

 
 

Consultation Question 9    

Do you have any views on whether, or not, there should a LRO deregulatory 
measure for live and recorded music on nursery premises?              

 

 
   
Community premises  
   
8.6 The Department intends to introduce a LRO to remove the licensing requirement for       

live and recorded music activities between 08:00-23:00 and before audiences of no 
more than 500 people on community premises that are not licensed for the supply of 
alcohol on those premises and where the relevant person or body for those premises 
has given specific permission for such activities to take place on those premises. The 
Department considers that such music entertainment held on community premises is 
a lower risk activity with respect to the licensing objectives, taking into account that,  
where applicable, community premises will still need to possess a licence for the sale 
or supply of alcohol.                   

 
 
 
 
 

58



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

33 

8.7 Under the Licensing Act 2003, ‘community premises’ are defined as: 
 
  ‘premises that are or form part of (a) a church hall, chapel hall, or other similar 

 building, or (b) a village hall, parish hall, community hall or other similar 
 building’. 

 
  
 The Department considers that, with such an exemption, community premises could 

be encouraged to host more live and recorded music activities, so creating positive 
social value, particularly in rural areas where there may be under-provision. From a 
‘community premises’ standpoint, if this and other deregulatory policy proposals are 
enacted, a performance of a play, an exhibition of a film (where qualifying), a 
performance of live music, the playing of recorded music and a performance of dance 
will all have been deregulated for community premises for audiences of no more than 
500 people. The Department considers that this will lead to a more straightforward 
regulatory regime for those that run community premises and those who participate in 
(and enjoy) live and recorded music – all without undue risk to the licensing 
objectives. 

 
 8.8.  Where a community premises is authorised to be used for the supply of alcohol for 

consumption on those premises, then the deregulatory measures for live and 
recorded music set out in Chapters 6 and 7 could apply.                            

 
 

Consultation Question 10     

 
Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for live 
and recorded music on local authority, hospital, school or community premises? 
 

   

59



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

34 

Chapter 9: Circuses  

Tented circus exemption between 08:00-23:00, for most licensable activities      
 
9.1 In January 2013, the Department announced a deregulatory measure for circuses.  It 

said: 
 

 

Circuses will be exempt from regulation for live and recorded music, plays, dance and 
indoor sport between 08:00-23:00 with no audience restrictions. 
 

 
 
9.2 Until the 2003 Act, circuses in England and Wales were traditionally regarded as 

falling within historic licensing exemptions applying to fairs and travelling showmen 
(although this may not have been the case strictly in law). A level of uncertainty has 
continued with the 2003 Act, in terms of whether a touring circus constitutes regulated 
entertainment under Schedule One. Some licensing authorities treat travelling 
circuses as exempt, echoing the historic exemption, while others reach a contrary 
view, as circus acts can include types of entertainment regulated by the 2003 Act. For 
example, clown performances are usually scripted and should be treated as the 
“performance of a play”, while high wire/trapeze is sometimes regarded by licensing 
authorities as indoor sport.  

 
9.3 The Department considers that it is appropriate to put circus entertainment on a 

clearer statutory footing, to assist both licensing authorities and circus operators in 
England and Wales. Regulation needs to be fairly applied to circuses, at a time when 
performances of a play, performances of live music, the playing of recorded music, 
indoor sporting events and performances of dance have either been deregulated or 
are being considered for deregulation in appropriate circumstances. We see little 
evidence to suggest that the absence of a comprehensive licensing requirement for 
circuses has caused significant public protection issues that warrant circuses being 
brought wholesale into the licensing regime.                        

 
9.4 There are compliance issues as to how circuses can legitimately meet the obligations 

of the 2003 Act. When required by individual licensing authorities, travelling circuses 
obtain TENs to ensure compliance with the 2003 Act. The nature of a travelling circus 
is to move around the country, sometimes at very short notice; e.g. if the anticipated 
pitch proves to be waterlogged on arrival. However, the number of TENs is currently 
limited to five per person, or fifty if a member of the circus has a personal licence 
(which is unlikely, as this would involve the passing of an exam which is mainly to do 
with the sale of alcohol, and so not applicable to a circus business). The mobile 
nature of travelling circuses also does not fit easily within the premises licence 
regime, as a separate premises licence would be required for each pitch, including 

60



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

35 

any pitch being returned to after a year’s absence. The unintended result is that 
touring tented circuses face a higher regulatory burden from licensing than do fixed 
premises.                         

 
9.5 The Department intends to introduce a LRO to exempt tented circus from licensing 

requirements for the performance of a play, an indoor sporting event, a performance 
of live music, the playing of recorded music, and a performance of dance between 
08:00-23:00hrs, with no audience restrictions. Circuses will need to have a premises 
licence or a TEN if they wish to put on an exhibition of film or a boxing or wrestling 
entertainment. As touring tented circuses are rarely licensed to sell alcohol, this 
measure will effectively ensure that most circuses do not require a premises licence 
or other authorisation under the 2003 Act. This would be consistent with recent 
amendments to the 2003 Act6 and the other measures described in this document, 
putting circuses on a par with other small venues that provide entertainment but not 
alcohol.  

 
9.6 Circuses will continue to need to comply with other regulatory regimes, such as the 

Welfare of Wild Animals in Travelling Circuses (England) Regulations 2012, which 
apply to the small minority of circuses that still use wild animals, as well as health and 
safety legislation. The Government sees no contradiction between deregulating circus 
as a form of regulated entertainment, while seeking a ban on the use of wild animals 
in circuses. The Government wishes to see the circus tradition continue to prosper, 
but not with the inclusion of wild animals.  

 
9.7 The Department is not proposing an audience ceiling for the circus exemption. There 

seems no reason to do so when, for example, fun-fairs operate outside the licensing 
regime. Nevertheless, we would welcome evidence that this is appropriate.  

 
9.8 Non-tented circuses are likely to be covered by a premises licence, or be exempt from 

the need to obtain a premises licence by virtue of the 2012 Act and the 2013 Order.                      
 

Consultation Question 11 
    

Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for 
circuses?  
 

                                           
  

 

 

6
 The Live Music Act 2012, and the Licensing Act 2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment) (Amendment) Order 

2013.              

61



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

36 

Chapter 10: Greco-Roman and 
freestyle wrestling     

Olympic wrestling disciplines exemption, 08:00-23:00, with no audience restriction       
 
10.1  In January 2013, the Department announced an exemption for the Greco-Roman and 

freestyle wrestling disciplines. It said: 
  

 
Boxing and wrestling will remain regulated, with the exception of the Olympic sports of 
Greco-Roman and freestyle wrestling.     
 

 
 

 10.2 The responses to the 2011 consultation indicated that there was support from the 
 sports sector to deregulate the Olympic sports of Greco-Roman and freestyle 
 wrestling, overseen by British Wrestling, the National Governing Body. 
 
10.3 Greco-Roman wrestling and freestyle wrestling are ancient combat sports where a 

competitor seeks to gain control over his opponent through the use of throws, locks, 
and clinching techniques. In the Greco-Roman discipline, competitors are not allowed 
to attack their opponent’s legs, or use their own legs to trip, lift or execute other 
moves. In the freestyle discipline, the use of legs for these purposes is permitted.  

 
10.4 The Department considers that the traditional Olympic sports of Greco-Roman and 

freestyle wrestling should benefit from an exemption between the hours of 08:00-
23:00, as these contests are predominantly between amateurs and held in sports 
halls, schools, clubs etc. as exhibitions, with only rare international tournaments (like 
London 2012) having a paying audience. We believe that an exemption is justified as 
these two wrestling disciplines do not pose undue risk to the licensing objectives. 
While an exemption would apply to these two disciplines, all other amateur disciplines 
of wrestling, as well as professional wrestling entertainment would remain licensable.       

 
10.5 The 2013 Order clarified that that “a boxing or wrestling entertainment” cannot also be 

an “indoor sporting event” that may be subject to deregulation. It also clarified that any 
contest which combines boxing or wrestling with one or more martial arts is 
considered a licensable boxing or wrestling entertainment.   

  

62



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

37 

 
 
10.6 We currently intend to define these two wrestling disciplines in a LRO as follows:  

 

“freestyle wrestling” is a contest, exhibition or display involving two wrestlers,
 each of whom uses his or her entire body to attempt to pin the other’s
 shoulders to the ground; and  
  
 “Greco-Roman wrestling” is a contest, exhibition or display involving two 
 wrestlers, each of whom uses his or her upper body to attempt to pin the 
other’s shoulders to the ground. 

 
 

Consultation Question 12    

Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for 
Greco-Roman and freestyle Wrestling? 

 

 

 

 

63



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

38 

Chapter 11: Analysis against 
requirements of the Legislative and 
Regulatory Reform Act 2006              

 
11.1 As explained in Chapter 3, the proposals must satisfy the preconditions set out in 

section 3 of LRRA. Therefore, we would welcome your views on the Department’s 
analysis of how the proposal (Chapters 5-10) to amend the 2003 Act meets these 
preconditions, as set out below. A full analysis of the policy is given in the 
accompanying Impact Assessment (see Chapter 13).                                

 
(i) Non legislative solutions  
 
11.2  There are powers in the 2003 Act that allow Ministers to make a Statutory Instrument 

(SI) to add, delete or modify the description of activities listed in Schedule 1 to that 
Act. The Department used these powers to make the 2013 Order, which made 
amendments to the 2003 Act so as to deregulate plays, dance and indoor sport in 
certain circumstances. However, the powers in the 2003 Act are not broad enough to 
allow Ministers to introduce new exemptions, or amend existing exemptions, using a 
similar order. As such, the changes proposed in this consultation document to the 
2003 Act will require primary legislation, unless they can be made by way of a LRO. 
For this reason, the Department considers that there is no non-legislative solution 
which would achieve the aim of introducing qualifications to the licensing requirement 
for the activities described in Chapters 5-10.  

 

Consultation Question 13       

On non-legislative solutions, do you agree with our assessment in this regard?             
 

 
 
(ii) Proportionality  
 
11.3.  The Department believes that local authority premises, hospitals, schools, nurseries, 

community premises and alcohol licensed premises (such as pubs) can play a vital 
role in ensuring a thriving local community and cultural life through being able, should 
they so wish, to offer a wide variety of live entertainment.  The Department wishes to 
remove unnecessary burdens arising from the 2003 Act for the lower risk 
entertainment activities set out in this consultation, as these hamper cultural and 
community creativity and prevent small businesses from diversifying due to time and 
trouble involved in cost-consuming licensing administration. This could lead to an 
increase in attendance at live entertainment providing significant enjoyment and social 
benefit for the general population.  To the fullest extent possible, the Department has 

64



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

39 

used the existing powers of the 2003 Act (i.e. the 2013 Order) to pursue this policy 
objective.   

 
11.4 The Department’s set of deregulatory measures seek to maximise freedoms for civil 

society organisations, charities and business, while retaining the existing licensing 
controls under the 2003 Act in relation to activities and events that pose a greater 
threat to the licensing objectives. Hence the Department’s policy is to dismantle 
unnecessary regulation, but to leave in place regulation around alcohol licensing, and 
the existing licensing framework for regulated entertainment that is outside of the 
proposed deregulation due to the nature of the activity (boxing, wrestling (except for 
the Olympic disciplines), mixed martial arts, cage fighting and sexual entertainment),                      
the size of the audience, or the hours of operation. The Department believes that it 
has balanced freedoms and risk in a precise and targeted manner that will bring 
proportionality back to entertainment licensing. The expected costs and benefits, and 
the impact of the policy, are set out in the accompanying Impact Assessment (Annex 
D). For these reasons, the Department considers that a LRO is the most proportionate 
way to achieve the policy objective of removing the burdens imposed by the 2003 Act 
for the lower risk activities described in Chapters 5-10. 

 
      

Consultation Question 14       

On proportionality, do you agree with our assessment in this regard?              
 

 
 
(iii) Fair balance  
 
11.5 The balance that has had to be struck with the new policy is between those people 

who welcome the deregulation and those people who do not.  We have kept in mind 
that in the 2011 consultation, most responses (for and against) were focussed on the 
live and recorded music activities.   

 
11.6 The Department recognises that striking the right balance on music entertainment is a 

key issue. A Government commitment to remove red tape from live music 
entertainment was included in the Coalition programme, as in recent years music in 
small venues had been gradually declining to the detriment of both national and local 
cultural identity. The 2012 Act implemented a partial deregulation for the smallest 
venues, and feedback to date suggests that it has led to a welcome increase in live 
music events, but not to a rise in complaints over noise nuisance and public order. 
The Department intends to fulfil the pledge made in the Coalition agreement by, in the 
light of experience, raising the audience limit to 500 to bring it into line with the 
deregulated audience limits for most other entertainment activities and the audience 
cut-off point for the lighter touch regime that applies to temporary events. The 
Department considers that this more ambitious audience limit will achieve a fair 
balance between promoting creativity and the sustainability of live music 
entertainment and protecting local communities from unwarranted noise nuisance.  

 
11.7 With recorded music, we want to retain the controls of the licensing regime where the 

risks to the licensing objectives are higher. The equipment needed for a recorded 
music event is usually more portable and easier to set up than for a live music event, 
and recorded music events have in the past been more prone to noise and public 

65



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

40 

order problems from unscrupulous operators. The policy is therefore to deregulate the 
playing of recorded music only in premises: already subject to the licensing regime by 
virtue of an alcohol licence;  or where the recorded music is on local authority, school, 
hospital or community premises; or where the playing of recorded music is part of 
nursery years provision. The Department considers that the playing of recorded music 
in all such circumstances is of a lower order of risk. 

 
11.8.  The qualitative risk assessment for noise problems forms part of the overall Impact 

Assessment set out in Annex D. 7 The Department has carefully considered what 
controls would remain post-deregulation, should there be noise nuisance in relation to 
live and recorded music from alcohol licensed premises. The Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 provides protection to the general public from  potential noise 
nuisance arising from those activities to be deregulated. It is for environmental health 
officers to decide the appropriate response where noise-related issues arise, whether 
through informal discussion with premises managers, or action under the statutory 
nuisance regime; this local authority role will not be affected by the proposed 
changes. While increased numbers of entertainment performances have the potential 
to raise local noise levels, current evidence suggests that entertainment complaints 
are relatively small compared to other sources of noise and hence the impact of this 
limited deregulation is likely to be small. So while the risk of increased noise nuisance 
cannot be entirely ruled out, it is the Department’s view that the licensing regime is 
more appropriate to events with times, audience sizes, and premises that will not be 
part of the deregulation where risks are greater. Furthermore, major problems with 
entertainment noise nuisance can still be dealt with by local authorities under the 
statutory nuisance regime. However, as recorded music was a key area of concern in 
the 2011 consultation, we have included in the Chapter 7exemption  the sanction of a 
licence review to ensure that instances of public and noise nuisance can be tackled 
should they result from this limited deregulation for the playing of recorded music.  

 
11.9 For these reasons, the Department considers that a LRO would strike a fair balance   

between the wider public interest and potential impacts on individual citizens.     
 
  

Consultation Question 15       

On fair balance, do you agree with our assessment in this regard?               
 

 
 
(iv) Necessary protection  
 
11.10 The Department considers that the deregulation of any activities as a result of these 

proposals would have little or no adverse effect on the licensing objectives: that is, the 
prevention of crime and disorder, public safety, the prevention of public nuisance and 
the protection of children from harm. This is because any person who organises or is 
otherwise responsible for those deregulated activities will continue to be subject to a 

 

 
7
We are aware of some emerging evidence. H. Notley et al, “The UK National Noise Attitude Survey 2012 – the 

sample, analysis and some results”, Internoise 2013. Once published, the findings will be taken into account in 
a revision of the Impact Assessment. 

  

66



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

41 

range of legal duties which will ensure that significant and necessary protections 
would remain in place in the event that no licence is required in respect of those 
activities.  

 
11.11 Importantly, any event at which alcohol is sold will require a premises licence. In other 

places, Local Authorities can implement ‘Designated Public Place Orders’ (DPPOs – 
also known as Alcohol Control Areas) to give the Police discretionary powers to 
require a person to stop drinking and to confiscate containers of alcohol in public 
places. Night-time regulated entertainment (23:00-08:00hrs) will continue to require a 
licence, as will entertainment above a relevant audience limit, as the Department 
recognises that, generally speaking, the larger the audience, the higher the risk to the 
licensing objectives.     

 
11.12  As set out in the qualitative risk assessment in the accompanying Impact Assessment 

(Annex D), there is no reason to expect significant deterioration in performance 
against the licensing objectives.  This is because the new policy position has taken 
into account comments made during consultation by local authorities and the police, 
paring down circumstances in which the lower risk activities recommended for 
deregulation could have any kind of potential for deleterious effect.   

 
11.13  Key safeguards will continue to remain in place.  A performance of dancing will 

remain licensable (even if the performance takes place before an audience of 500 or 
fewer, between 8am and 11pm) if it is sufficiently sexual in nature as to be “relevant 
entertainment” within the meaning of paragraph 2A of Schedule 3 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.  

 
11.14  The police already have considerable powers under the Criminal Justice and Public 

Order Act 1994 to remove persons attending or preparing for a rave and seize and 
remove sound equipment or vehicles.  

 
11.15  The Health and Safety at Work etc. Act (1974) places a duty of care on employers 

and other people with some degree of control over events to ensure, so far as is 
reasonably practicable, the health and safety of their employees and anyone else who 
may be harmed by work activities (e.g. the audience attending an event). Local 
Authorities or, where appropriate, the Health and Safety Executive are responsible for 
the enforcement of health and safety, and are able to impose standards of safety at 
events. HSE produces guidance to event organisers explaining how to comply with 
health and safety law. 

 
11.16 There are also additional duties imposed on event organisers and premises owners 

by, for example, the Electricity at Work Regulations 1989, the Workplace (Health, 
Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992, the Management of Health and Safety at Work 
Regulations 1999 and the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. 

 
11.17. The Department takes the view that a LRO that deregulates entertainment under the 

licensing regime does not remove any necessary protections, as a broad range of 
other legal duties exist and would continue to apply to any person with a degree of 
responsibility for, or control over, the entertainment activities as described in Chapters 
5-10. 

 
 

67



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

42 

Consultation Question 16       

On necessary protection, do you agree with our assessment in this regard?               
 

 
 
(v) Rights and freedoms 
  
11.18 The Department does not consider that it is preventing any person from continuing to 

exercise any rights or freedoms which that person might reasonably expect to 
continue to exercise.   

 

Consultation Question 17       

On rights and freedoms, do you agree with our assessment in this regard?               
 

     
 
(vi) Constitutional significance 
  
11.19 The Department considers that these proposals are not of constitutional significance. 

Responsibility for entertainment licensing has not been devolved to Wales, but the 
Welsh Assembly Government has been kept informed of these proposals.  

 

Consultation Question 18       

On constitutional significance, do you agree with our assessment in this regard? 
 

 
  

68



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

43 

Chapter 12: Parliamentary procedure 

Parliamentary procedure    
 
12.1 The Minister must recommend one of three alternative procedures for Parliamentary 

scrutiny dependent on the nature, aims and importance of the LRO. The negative 
resolution procedure is the least onerous and therefore may be suitable for LROs 
delivering small regulatory reform. The super-affirmative procedure is the most 
onerous involving the most in-depth Parliamentary scrutiny. Although the Minister 
makes the recommendation, Parliamentary Scrutiny Committees have the final say 
about which procedure will apply.  

 
(i) Negative Resolution Procedure – This allows Parliament 40 days to scrutinise a 
draft LRO after which the Minister can make the LRO if neither House of Parliament 
has resolved during that period that the LRO should not be made.  

 
(ii) Affirmative Resolution Procedure – This allows Parliament 40 days to scrutinise 
a draft LRO after which, if it is approved by a resolution of each House of Parliament, 
the Minister can make the LRO.          

 
(iii) Super-Affirmative Resolution Procedure – This is a two-stage procedure: 
 

· At the first stage, the draft LRO is laid before Parliament for a 60-day period. 
The Minister is obliged to have regard to any representations, any resolution of 
either House of Parliament and any recommendations of a committee of either 
House of Parliament charged with reporting on the draft LRO made during this 
60-day period.  

 

· After the expiry of the 60-day period, if the Minister wishes to make the LRO 
without material changes, he must lay a statement before Parliament stating 
whether any representations were made and, if so, providing details of those 
representations. The Minister may thereafter make the LRO if it is approved by 
a resolution of each House of Parliament. 

 

· If the Minister does wish to make material changes to the draft LRO after the 
expiry of the 60-day period, he must thereafter lay the revised draft LRO with a 
statement giving details of any representations made during the scrutiny period 
and of the revisions proposed. The Minister may thereafter make the LRO if the 
revised draft is approved by a resolution of each House of Parliament.  

 
 
 
 

  

69



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

44 

 
12.2  Under each procedure, the Parliamentary Scrutiny Committees have the power to 

recommend that the Minister should not make the LRO. If one of the Parliamentary 
Committees makes such a recommendation, a Minister may only proceed with it if the 
recommendation is overturned by a resolution of the relevant House.  

 
12.3 The Department believes that the affirmative resolution procedure should apply to this 

LRO. Its purpose is to implement a deregulatory policy for entertainment licensing that 
has been carefully considered and revised as a result of a full and open public 
consultation in 2011, to which over 1,350 responses were received. As was 
announced to Parliament on 7 January 2013, deregulation is being brought forward 
after many years of calls to Government to reduce unnecessary regulation arising 
from the Licensing Act 2003 for lower-risk activities that hamper cultural and 
community creativity and prevent small businesses from diversifying. The Department 
considers that proportionate deregulation is non-contentious given the pivotal role that 
cultural entertainment and sport play in community life. When conducted on 
appropriate premises by responsible persons and bodies in defined and limited 
circumstances, the entertainment activities set out in this consultation are appropriate 
for deregulation because of the lower risk they pose and because organisers will be 
bound by duties imposed by other legislation8, such as:   

 

· Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 

· Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 

· Environmental Protection Act 1990 

· Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 

· Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 

· Children Act 1989 

· Children and Young Persons Act 1963 

· Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

· Electricity at Work Regulations 1989 

· Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992 

· Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 
       
           and where there is also the sale or supply of alcohol, the 2003 Licensing Act itself.    
 
12.4.  Further information on the Parliamentary procedure in set out at Annex C.              
 

Consultation Question 19       

Do you agree that the Affirmative Parliamentary procedure should apply to the 
scrutiny of these proposals? 

 

 

8
 We are not suggesting that all such legislation applies to all persons involved in the provision of 

entertainment, but that the duties imposed by these instruments target objectives (e.g. noise nuisance, the 
protection of children, criminal behaviour and public safety) which overlap with the licensing objectives that 
underpin the duties imposed by the Licensing Act 2003. 

70



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

45 

Chapter 13: Estimated impact of 
implementation  

Impact Assessment 
      
13.1 The Department has considered the impact of implementation of these deregulation 

measures and has completed an Impact Assessment (IA) that accompanies this 
consultation as a separate document (Annex D). The IA has been validated by the 
independent Regulatory Policy Committee (RPC), the body charged with reviewing 
the evidence and analysis supporting all IAs. It analyses in detail the likely costs and 
benefits (monetised as far as possible) and the associated risks that the policy might 
have on public, private or civil society organisations, following HM Treasury Green 
Book appraisal and evaluation techniques.  

 
13.2 The scope of the accompanying IA considers the announced policy position in its 

entirety and not only the specific measures intended for implementation through a 
LRO. This is due to the fact that the implementation of the announced policy position 
is in two stages. The first stage, which provided for the partial deregulation of plays, 
dance and indoor sporting events through 2013 Order, is now complete. In the second 
stage, the intention is to implement the remaining deregulatory measures by way of a 
LRO, and this is the subject of this consultation. The IA for this consultation is the one 
validated by the RPC and therefore provides an assessment of both stages of 
implementation. This consultation document briefly summarises the full IA, but also 
provides an estimate of the impact arising from the implementation of the LRO alone. 
The IA will be updated to reflect any changes that are made as a result of responses 
to this consultation.   

 
Original cost and benefits from the IA covering both stages of implementation  
 
13.3  The impact on society as a whole is described by the net present value (NPV), which 

is the sum of total benefits and total costs that can be reasonably monetised and 
discounted over a ten year appraisal period. The IA shows that the combined 
implementation of the 2013 Order and the LRO would result in a net benefit of 
£16.8m, supporting the case for a deregulation of disproportionate controls on lower 
risk entertainment activities. The yearly impact on businesses and civil society is 
measured by the equivalent annual net cost to business (EANCB). The IA shows that 
deregulation can be expected to reduce burdens on business by around £-1.4m each 
year. 

 
13.4  Deregulation is expected to bring about a range of benefits. The impacts outlined 

above only take account of the administrative savings that will arise from less 
stringent licensing requirements. Wider benefits that might be expected are 
summarised below:   

71



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

46 

(a) Societal Benefits – Removal of regulatory barriers through both cost savings in 
fees and administrative burdens is likely to encourage the staging of additional 
cultural and sporting activities. For the individual, increased attendance may have 
a positive impact on wellbeing. From a social standpoint, culture is generally 
thought to have a positive impact on social groups by acting as a focal point 
around which communities can come together.  

 
(b) Business Benefits – Economically, more performances and increased 

attendance will drive increased revenues, investment, and employment. Removal 
of unnecessary entertainment regulation leads to savings for businesses and civil 
society, as the administrative burden is reduced. 

 
(c) Local Government Benefits – Local authorities attain cost savings as a layer of 

regulatory administration is removed. In many cases this benefit is offset by the 
reduction in fee income from applicants, but where applicants are fee exempt 
(such as schools and village halls) the policy will result in cost savings. 

  
13.5  The likelihood of costs arising from the policy measures is limited. However there are 

potential risks to be considered and the IA provides a qualitative risk assessment by 
activity. The risk assessment makes it clear that there is no reason to expect 
deterioration in performance against three of the licensing objectives and that on the 
fourth, public nuisance, the impact is anticipated to be minimal. In addition, high risk 
activities will remain licensable and only those lower risk activities which meet controls 
relating to audience size and timing would be deregulated. In all cases, significant 
protections will continue to remain in place under other statutory regimes, including 
health and safety and noise nuisance legislation. 

 
New costs and benefits figures arising from the LRO only  
 
13.6  The LRO proposal contains greater policy detail than the policy measures considered 

in the IA. These details do not contain any material changes that would prompt 
development of a new IA. Nevertheless, for the purposes of the LRO consultation, it is 
useful to provide an estimate of the scale of net benefits flowing from this second 
stage of implementation for the purposes of the LRO consultation. Using the same 
methodology and model as in the IA, the NPV and EANCB is calculated by removing 
the benefits that may arise from deregulating plays, dance, and indoor sporting 
events. On this basis, the best NPV estimate becomes £11.1m while the EANCB 
becomes an estimated £-0.9m each year.  

 
13.7  The same qualitative costs and benefits apply in the second stage as they apply to 

assessment of both stages, although in the second stage these costs and benefits will 
naturally be smaller since the first stage has already been completed.  

 

Consultation Question 20    

Do you have views on the expected impact as set out in the accompanying Impact 
Assessment? 
  

72



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

47 

Chapter 14: Questions for respondents     

 
Q1  Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for local 

 authorities? 
 
Q2  Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for 

 hospitals? 
 
Q3  Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for 

 schools? 
 
Q4  Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for any 

person offering early years and day care provision?    
 
Q5  Do you agree that all local authorities and every hospital, school and nursery provider 

specified above, regardless of size, resources and capability should be included in 
these exemptions?  If not, which bodies would you exclude from these exemptions 
and why?                   

 
Q6 Are you aware of any local authority body, hospital, school, (including children’s 

 residential provision) or nursery provider that, in terms of the licensing objectives, 
ought to be  included in these cross-activity exemptions and currently would not be? 

 
Q7  Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for live 

 music, taking into account experience since the Live Music Act 2012 came into force? 
 
Q8 Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for 

 recorded music in on-licensed premises? 
 
Q9 Do you have any views on whether, or not, there should a LRO deregulatory measure 

for live and recorded music on nursery premises? 
 
Q10 Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for live 

and recorded music on local authority, hospital, school, or community premises? 
 
Q11 Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for 
 circuses?  
        
Q12 Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work for 

 Greco-Roman and freestyle Wrestling? 
 
Q13 On non-legislative solutions, do you agree with our assessment in this regard? 
 

73



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

48 

Q14 On proportionality, do you agree with our assessment in this regard? 
 
Q15 On fair balance, do you agree with our assessment in this regard? 
 
Q16 On necessary protection, do you agree with our assessment in this regard?         
       
Q17  On rights and freedoms, do you agree with our assessment in this regard? 
 
Q18 On constitutional significance, do you agree with our assessment in this regard? 
 
Q19 Do you agree that the Affirmative Parliamentary procedure should apply to the 

 scrutiny of these proposals? 
 
Q20 Do you have views on the expected benefits as set out in the accompanying Impact 

 Assessment?      
 
 
 
          
 
      
 
 
               
 
  
 
                  
 
 
 
           
 
                          
 
  
  

74



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

49 

Annex A: List of consultees 

 
This list indicates those organisations and sectors that may wish to respond to the 
consultation. However, anyone can respond to this consultation and we welcome all 
responses. 

 
ACEVO 
Action with Communities in Rural England 
Agents’ Association  
Alcohol Concern  
Arts Council England  
Arts Council of Wales  
Arts Development UK 
Association of British Insurers  
Association of Chief Police Officers  
Association of Circus Proprietors of Great Britain  
Association of Festival Organisers (AFO)  
Association of Independent Festivals  
Association of Independent Music (AIM)  
Association of Inland Navigation Authorities  
Association of Licensed Multiple Retailers  
Association of School and College Leaders  
Association of Show and Agricultural Organisations  
BII (British Institute of Innkeeping)  
BPI (The British Recorded Music Industry)  
British Association of Concert Halls  
British Beer and Pub Association  
British Board of Film Classification (BBFC)  
British Boxing Board of Control  
British Federation of Film Societies  
British Film Institute (BFI) 
British Holiday and Home Parks Association  
British Hospitality and Restaurant Association  
British Marine Federation  
British Retail Consortium  
British Wrestling Association  
Business in Sport and Leisure  
Cadw  
Carnival Village   
Charity Commission  
Chartered Institute of Environmental Health  
Chief Fire Officers’ Association  
Children’s Society  

75



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

50 

Cinema Advertising Association  
Cinema Exhibition Association  
Circus Arts Forum 
Commission for Rural Communities  
Committee of Registered Clubs Associations  
Community Matters  
Dance UK 
Eden Project ‘Big Lunch’ 
English Folk Dance and Song Society  
English Heritage  
Environmental Protection UK 
Equity  
Federation of Licensed Victuallers  
Federation of Licensed Victuallers (Wales)  
Federation of Private Residents’ Association  
Federation of Small Businesses  
Film Agency for Wales 
Film Distributors’ Association  
Fire Officers Association 
Freedom and Autonomy for Schools 
Guild of Master Victuallers  
Health and Safety Executive (HSE)  
Historic Houses Association  
Independent Academies Association 
Independent Schools Council 
Independent Street Arts Network  
Independent Cinema Office 
Independent Theatre Council (ITC)  
Institute of Acoustics 
Institute of Licensing  
International Live Music Conference  
Justices Clerk Society  
Lap Dancing Association  
Licensing Act Active Residents Network  
Local Government Association (LGA)  
Local Government Regulation (LGR)  
Magistrates Association 
Making Music 
Maritime and Coastguard Agency  
Metropolitan Police  
Musicians Union  
National Arenas Association  
National Association for Voluntary and Community Action 
National Association of Head Teachers   
National Association of Independent Schools and Non-Maintained Special Schools 
National Association of Licensing and Enforcement Officers 
National Association of Local Councils  
National Campaign for the Arts  
National Confederation of Parent Teacher Associations  
National Farmers’ Retail & Markets Association  
National Governors’ Association  

76



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

51 

National Neighbourhood Watch Association  
National Operatic and Dramatic Association  
National Organisation for Pupil Referral Units and Alternative Providers 
National Organisation of Residents Associations 
National Parks England     
National Rural Touring Forum  
National Village Halls Forum  
NCVO 
NHS Confederation 
Noise Abatement Society  
Parliamentary Performers Alliance  
Paterson’s Licensing Acts  
Police Federation  
Police Superintendents’ Association  
Production Services Association  
Rotary International in GB and Ireland  
Society of Local Council Clerks  
Society of London Theatres/ Theatrical Management Association (SLT/TMA)  
Sport England  
Sports and Recreation Alliance 
Sport Wales 
SSAT (The Schools Network) Ltd 
Streets Alive 
Superact 
The Theatres Trust  
Tourism for All  
Trading Standards Institute  
UK Centre for Carnival Arts  
UK Live Music Group  
UK Music  
UK Noise Association 
UK Sport  
Voluntary Arts Network  
Welsh Council for Voluntary Action  
Welsh Local Government Association  
Welsh Music Foundation 

77



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

52 

Annex B: Response form 

Send this Response Form to:  

 
Ian Jenkins  
Entertainment Licensing LRO Consultation Co-ordinator 
Department for Culture, Media and Sport, 
100 Parliament Street, London SW1A 2BQ 
 
 Or e-mail Regulated_Entertainment_Consultation@Culture.gsi.gov.uk 
     
 
 
Respondent details:     
 
Name:  
 
Organisation:  
 
Address: 
 
 
 
 Questions    

 

Q1 Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work 
for local authorities?  

  

 

 

 

 

Q2 Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work 
for hospitals?                          

  

 

 

 
  

78



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

53 

 

Q3 Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work 
for schools?            

  

 

 

 

Q4 Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work 
for any person offering early years and day care provision?  

  

 

 

 

Q5 Do you agree that all local authorities and every hospital, school and nursery 
provider specified above, regardless of size, resources and capability should 
be included in these exemptions?  If not, which bodies would you exclude 
from these exemptions and why?                   

  

 

 

 

Q6 Are you aware of any local authority body, hospital, school, (including 
children’s residential provision) or nursery provider that, in terms of the 
licensing objectives, ought to be included in these cross-activity exemptions 
and currently would not be? 

  

 

 

 

Q7 Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work 
for live music, taking into account experience since the Live Music Act 2012 
came into force?               

  

 

 

 
  

79



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

54 

 

Q8 Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work 
for recorded music in on-licensed premises?        

  

 

 

 

Q9 Do you have any views on whether, or not, there should a LRO deregulatory 
measure for live and recorded music on nursery premises? 

  

 

 

 

Q10 Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work 
for live and recorded music on local authority, hospital, school, or community 
premises?        

  

 

 

 

Q11 Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work 
for circuses?  

  

 

 

 

Q12 Do you have any comments on how this LRO deregulatory measure will work 
for Greco-Roman and freestyle Wrestling? 

  

 

 

 

Q13 On non-legislative solutions, do you agree with our assessment in this 
regard? 

  

 

 

 

80



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

55 

Q14 On proportionality, do you agree with our assessment in this regard? 

  

 

 

 

Q15 On fair balance, do you agree with our assessment in this regard? 

  

 

 

 

Q16 On necessary protection, do you agree with our assessment in this regard?              

 

  

 

 

 

Q17 On rights and freedoms, do you agree with our assessment in this regard?      

 

  

 

 

 

Q18 On constitutional significance, do you agree with our assessment in this 
regard? 

  

 

 

 

Q19 Do you agree that the Affirmative Parliamentary procedure should apply to the 
scrutiny of these proposals? 

  

 

 

 
  

81



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

56 

 

Q20 Do you have views on the expected benefits as set out in the accompanying 
Impact Assessment?  

  

 

 

 

82



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

57 

Annex C: Parliamentary consideration   

Introduction 
 

1. Reforming the current licensing regime set out in the Licensing Act 2003 (2003 Act) 
will require changes to primary legislation. The Minister proposes to achieve these 
changes by making a Legislative Reform Order (LRO) under the Legislative and 
Regulatory Reform Act 2006 (LRRA).  

 
Legislative reform proposals 
  

2. This consultation document on proposals to amend the 2003 Act has been produced 
because any use of the LRRA requires thorough and effective consultation with 
interested parties. In undertaking this, the Minister is expected to seek out actively the 
views of those concerned, including those who may be adversely affected, and then 
to demonstrate to the Parliamentary Scrutiny Committees that he has addressed 
those concerns.  

 
3. Following the consultation exercise and the preparation of the draft LRO, when the 

Minister lays proposals before Parliament under section 14 of the LRRA, he must also 
lay before Parliament an Explanatory Document which must:  

 
i) State under which power or powers in the LRRA the provisions contained in the 
draft LRO are being made;  

 
ii) Introduce and give reasons for the provisions in the draft LRO;  

 
iii) Explain why the Minister considers that:  

 

· The policy objectives of the LRO cannot be satisfactorily achieved by non-
legislative solutions;  

 

· The effect of the provisions in the LRO are proportionate to the policy objective;  
 

· The provisions contained in the LRO strike a fair balance between the public 
interest and the interests of any person adversely affected by it;  

 

· The provisions do not remove any necessary protection;  
 

· The provisions do not prevent anyone from continuing to exercise any right or 
freedom which that person might reasonably expect to continue to exercise; 
and 

 

· The provisions in the proposal are not of constitutional significance. 

83



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

58 

 
iv) Include, so far as appropriate, an assessment of the extent to which the 
provision made by the LRO would remove or reduce any burden or burdens;  

 
v) Give details of any consultation undertaken, any representations received as a 
result of the consultation and the changes (if any) made as a result of those 
representations.  

 
4. On the day the Minister lays the proposals and explanatory document, the period for 

Parliamentary consideration begins. This lasts 40 days under the affirmative 
resolution procedure and 60 days under the super-affirmative resolution procedure. If 
you want a copy of the proposals and the explanatory document laid before 
Parliament, please contact 
Regulated_Entertainment_Consultation@Culture.gsi.gov.uk      

 
Parliamentary scrutiny 
  

5. Both Houses of Parliament scrutinise legislative reform proposals and draft LROs. 
This is done by the Regulatory Reform Committee in the House of Commons and the 
Delegated Powers and Regulatory Reform Committee in the House of Lords.  

 
6. Standing Orders for the Regulatory Reform Committee in the Commons stipulate that 

the Committee considers whether proposals:  
 

(i) appear to make an inappropriate use of delegated legislation;  
 

(ii) serve the purpose of removing or reducing a burden, or the overall burdens, 
resulting directly or indirectly for any person from any legislation (in respect of a draft 
LRO under section 1 of the LRRA);  

 
(iii) serve the purpose of securing that regulatory functions are exercised so as to 
comply with the regulatory principles, as set out in section 2(3) of the Act (in respect 
of a draft LRO under section 2 of the LRRA);  

 
(iv) secure a policy objective which could not be satisfactorily secured by non-
legislative means;  

 
(v) have an effect which is proportionate to the policy objective;  

 
(vi) strike a fair balance between the public interest and the interests of any person 
adversely affected by it;  

 
(vii) do not remove any necessary protection;  

 
(viii) do not prevent any person from continuing to exercise any right or freedom which 
that person might reasonably expect to continue to exercise;  

 
(ix) are not of constitutional significance;  

 
(x) make the law more accessible or more easily understood (in the case of provisions 
restating enactments);  

84



Government for Culture, Media & Sport  
Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing          

 

59 

 
(xi) have been the subject of, and takes appropriate account of, adequate 
consultation;  

 
(xii) give rise to an issue under such criteria for consideration of statutory instruments 
laid down in paragraph (1) of Standing Order No 151 (Statutory Instruments (Joint 
Committee)) as are relevant, such as defective drafting or failure of the Government 
to provide information where it was required for elucidation; and 

 
(xiii) appear to be incompatible with any obligation resulting from membership of the 
European Union.  

 
7. The Committee in the House of Lords will consider each proposal in terms of similar 

criteria, although these are not laid down in Standing Orders.  
 

8. Each Committee might take oral or written evidence to help it decide these matters, 
and each Committee would then be expected to report.  

 
9. Copies of Committee Reports, as Parliamentary papers, can be obtained through 

HMSO. They are also made available on the Parliament website.  
 

10. Under affirmative resolution procedure, each of the Scrutiny Committees is given 40 
days to scrutinise a LRO, after which the Minister can make the order if it is not 
vetoed by either or both of the Committees and it is approved by a resolution of each 
House of Parliament.  

 
11. Under super-affirmative procedure each of the Scrutiny Committees is given 60 days 

to scrutinise the LRO. If, after the 60 day period, the Minister wishes to make the 
order with no changes, he may do so only after he has laid a statement in Parliament 
giving details of any representations made and the LRO is approved by a resolution of 
each House of Parliament. If the Minister wishes to make changes to the draft LRO, 
he must lay the revised LRO before Parliament together with a statement giving 
details of any representations made during the scrutiny period and of the proposed 
revisions to the LRO. The Minister may only make the LRO if it has been approved by 
a resolution of each House of Parliament and has not been vetoed by either or both 
relevant Committees.  

 
How to make your views known  
 

12. Responding to this consultation document is your first and main opportunity to make 
your views known to the relevant Government as part of the consultation process. 
You should send your views to the person named in paragraph 3.12 and Annex B of 
this consultation document.  
 

13. When the Minister lays proposals before Parliament you are also welcome to put your 
views before either or both of the Scrutiny Committees. In the first instance, this 
should be in writing. The Committees will normally decide on the basis of written 
submissions whether to take oral evidence.  

 
14. Your submission should be as concise as possible, and should focus on one or more 

of the criteria listed in paragraph 6 above.  

85



 Government for Culture, Media & Sport 
 Consultation on a proposal to use a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to entertainment licensing         

 

60 

 
15. The Scrutiny Committees appointed to scrutinise Legislative Reform Orders can be 

contacted at:  
 

Regulatory Reform Committee  
House of Commons  
7 Millbank  
London SW1P 3JA  
Tel: 020 7219 2830  
Mail to: regrefcom@parliament.uk 
  
Delegated Powers and Regulatory Reform Committee  
House of Lords  
London SW1A 0PW  
Tel: 020 7219 3103  
Mail to: DPRR@parliament.uk 
 
 

Non-disclosure of responses 
 

16. Section 14(3) of the LRRA provides what should happen when someone responding 
to the consultation exercise on a proposed LRO requests that their response should 
not be disclosed. 

  
17. The name of the person who has made representations will always be disclosed to 

Parliament. If you ask for your representation not to be disclosed to any extent, the 
Minister should not disclose (to the relevant extent) the content of that representation 
without your express consent and, if the representation relates to a third party, their 
consent too. Alternatively, the Minister may disclose the content of the representation 
in such a way as to preserve your anonymity and that of any third party involved.  

 
Information about third parties 
  

18. If you give information about a third party which the Minister believes may be 
damaging to the interests of that third party, the Minister does not have to pass on 
such information to Parliament if he does not believe it is true or he is unable to obtain 
the consent of the third party to disclose. This applies whether or not you ask for your 
representation not to be disclosed.  

 
19. The Scrutiny Committees may, however, be given access on request to all 

representations as originally submitted, as a safeguard against improper influence 
being brought to bear on Ministers in their formulation of LROs.  

 

86



87



 

 

4th Floor, 100 Parliament Street 

London SW1A 2BQ 

www.gov.uk/dcms 

88



LICENSING COMMITTEE 
(LICENSING ACT 2003 
FUNCTIONS) 

Agenda Item 18 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council  

 
 
Reviews table June – Nov 2013 
 
 
 

NAME AND 
ADDRESS OF 
PREMISES 

Date consideration 
of closure order 
received from 
Magistrates 

DATE OF 
HEARING 

DETERMINATION 

B & W Stores 
29 York Place 
Brighton 
East Sussex 
BN1 4GU 

N/A 20.08.13 Licence revoked 

    

 
 

 

89



90



                                                                           

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
(LICENSING ACT 2003 
FUNCTIONS) 

Agenda Item 19 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Schedule of Licensing Appeals: Date of Meeting: 21st 

November 2013  
 

 

Premises 
 

Appellant PTR Hearing Outcome 

B&W Stores, 29 
York Place, 
Brighton 

Premises 
Licence holder 

 14/11/13   

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

91



92


	Agenda
	11 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	15 Sensible on Strength
	4808 Sensible On Strength Sticker - R3

	16 Government propsals on Personal Licences
	Home Office Personal Alcohol Licences Consultation

	17 Further Entertainment Deregulation Consultation
	APPENDIX 1

	18 Schedule of Reviews
	19 Schedule of Appeals

